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Friday, March 27th, 2009

--- On commencing at 9:05 a.m.


MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.  Thank you.


Any preliminary matters before we resume the cross-examination by Mr. Shepherd?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. ENGELBERG:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Members of the panel.  Hydro One has a few transcript corrections to make and two clarification questions to ask of the witnesses in redirect --

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. ENGELBERG:  -- which we feel would be helpful to the Panel and to Mr. Shepherd, so that you get the answers before you proceed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine.


MR. VLAHOS:  I suspect, Mr. Engelberg, the corrections to the transcript, they are substance not just typos, because those can be handled a different way.


MR. ENGELBERG:  I think some of them are substance.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Go ahead.


MR. ENGELBERG:  First of all, on the list of undertakings that appear right after the exhibits page, there is an undertaking referred to of Hydro One, and it says "Undertaking No. K1.10".  It should be undertaking J1.1.


Also, I would like to take the opportunity now to file that undertaking, which is the undertaking requested by Mr. Shepherd for Hydro One to redo an exhibit to provide an additional column at the left of the three existing columns.  Hydro One has copies of that for everyone.  It is Exhibit J1.1.


[Document passed to parties]


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask when this was available, this document?


MR. ENGELBERG:  This morning.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. ENGELBERG:  The next change is at page 124 of the transcript, at line 22, in an answer by Mr. Van Dusen.  Line 22, it says, "Now, so it is motor not the construction people".


It should be, "So it is the planners, not the construction people."


The next one at page 167, line 2, in an answer by Mr. Dumka, it says on the second line, "I am prudent", and that should be "imprudent".  "It would be imprudent."


Those are all the changes to the transcript.  As I stated, I would like to ask a couple of questions now in redirect to clarify matters from yesterday, if I may.


MR. VLAHOS:  Go ahead.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1, Resumed


Bodhan Dumka, Previously Affirmed


George Juhn, Previously Sworn


Dr. Andrew Poray, Previously Affirmed


Gregory Van Dusen, Previously Sworn

Further Examination by Mr. Engelberg:

MR. ENGELBERG:  First of all, Mr. Dumka, I would like you to turn to page 74 of the transcript, line 6.


MR. DUMKA:  Yes.


MR. ENGELBERG:  I understand you informed me that there is an error with the number $461 million there; is that correct?


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct, sir.  Sorry, yes, that's correct.


MR. ENGELBERG:  What should that number be?


MR. DUMKA:  That number should be $450 million.


MR. ENGELBERG:  What's the difference between the 450 and the 461?


MR. DUMKA:  There is $11 million with regards to the PCB program that is reflected in the 461 that is not in the 450.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.


My second question to you, Mr. Dumka, there was a line of questions yesterday regarding how rate base would notionally change under a cost-of-service proceeding as compared to this third generation IRM application.  Do you recall that?


MR. DUMKA:  Yes, I do, sir.


MR. ENGELBERG:  And I understand that we never got to an answer on that.


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Can you tell those present what the answer to that is?


MR. DUMKA:  Yes, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Engelberg, maybe you can point to the precise reference in the transcript.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Just a moment.


MR. DUMKA:  That would be on page 119.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Mr. Dumka.


MR. DUMKA:  This is the discussion on how rate base would change if we were under a cost-of-service application as compared to what is happening here under third generation IRM.


Mr. Shepherd mentioned a number of 120 million on line 7.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Do you have an answer for that now, Mr. Dumka?


MR. DUMKA:  Yes, I do.  Yes, I do, sir.


Basically, the premise, if we were doing a cost-of-service application in 2009, what happened in 2008, we spent roughly $400 million -- 401 on capital.


Half of that was recognized in the rate base due to the midyear rule.  We put 400 million in.  The assumption is midyear.  So the rate base reflects a net $200 million of capital additions.


Under a cost-of-service, on January 1st, 2009 we pick up the closing balance of what's there.  It's actually $400 million.  So now we see a starting point for the rate base calculation.  We recognize the full $400 million on January 1st.


So rate base is changed by $200 million, effectively, when we go through and do the calculation for 2009.


Now, as we go through 2009, using the same assumption - we're going to spend $460 million on capital that goes into service - due to the midyear rule, it impacts the rate base calculation by $230 million.


So here we are in 2009, same capital expenditures.  Our rate base calculation is now up by $430 million.  That's the $200 million of the full-year impact of the capital additions in 2008, and the midyear impact of $230 million related to the $460 million we put into service.


So we have a rate base that has changed by $430 million in 2009 under cost-of-service.


Now, in this third generation IRM, the way it's laid out, again, we have spending of $460 million.  Now, from yesterday's presentation by Dr. Poray, we saw that there was the dead band calculated of $38 million, and we recognize that there is no funding in the third generation model for the dead band.  That's roughly $38 million.


So in terms of how the third generation IRM is treating -- let's call it the notional rate base, because we're not getting a rate base approved.  We have roughly $420 million that is getting recognized by the model, and we are getting a full-year return on $420 million.  That's the 460 less the dead band of about 38 million.


So we land at about $420 million, $422 million as, let's call it, the notional rate base, under third generation IRM.


This compares to the figure I outlined to you earlier.  If this was a cost-of-service application, we would have a rate base of $430 million.  So under cost-of-service, $430 million, as compared to third generation IRM where we have $420 million.  It's roughly a wash.  It's a touch lower under the third generation IRM application.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Mr. Dumka.


I also have one clarification question to ask of Dr. Poray.  Dr. Poray, there was an exchange yesterday between you and the Chair of the Board, Mr. Vlahos, where he gave an illustrated example of a new utility where there is ten dollars of capital expenditures reflected in current rate base.  Can you turn that up in the transcript?


DR. PORAY:  Yes.  This is on page 173 of the transcript and it is starting at line 8.


MR. ENGELBERG:  I understand that Mr. Vlahos was asking whether there would be anything in current rates that would support any capital expenditures in the following year.


You agreed with him when he asked if there would be a return on that investment and depreciation reflected in your current rates.


I understand you've reflected on that overnight.  Would you like to clarify your response?


DR. PORAY:  Yes.  The current rates that are applicable to the example that you gave, Mr. Chair, would in fact make an allowance of the depreciation which would be available to fund the capital expenditure in the next year.


There may be other additional components, for example growth.  If there was growth in demand and customers, then that might create additional funding for capital expenditures in the -- for the next year.  In fact, this is what we discussed in my direct evidence with respect to the capital adjustment module where I went through the various components that make up the threshold that provides some additional funding for the utility in the following year towards capital expenditures, and specifically I was looking at the slide which is at Exhibit K-1-15.


Thank you.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Dr. Poray.  I don't have any other preliminary matters.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Mr. Thomson, I guess the correction on page 74 from 461, 450, you were the cross- examiner.  So you have an opportunity to follow up now if you like now.


MR. THOMPSON:  I haven't reviewed the transcript, I haven't checked the transcript, sir, so I will do that and get back to you at the break, if that is all right.


MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine.  Mr. Shepherd, you were the cross-examiner with respect to the issue raised on page 119, as well as 175.  So I don't know whether you are ready to ask questions now or you have an opportunity to do so later.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If it is all right with you, I will pick it up in my cross-examination, Mr. Chairman.  Since I am still in it, I may as well go with the flow.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  However, I do wish to ask a question of procedure.  I wonder if Mr. Engelberg...

MR. VLAHOS:  Is your mike on?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it is.  My throat is weak this morning.  I wonder if Mr. Engelberg can put on the record what discussions he had with his witnesses during their examination, that is between last night and this morning.


MR. ENGELBERG:  I will be glad to do that.  I asked them at the end of the day, when we got the transcript, if there were any -- to review it and ask them if either from memory or by reading the transcript, if there was anything stated that they feel needed to be clarified in any way, or if there was additional information that they could provide; in the case of Mr. Dumka, for example, to be more helpful in the unanswered question about what the difference would be between having done a cost-of-service application and a third generation IRM application, since the matter had been raised yesterday and didn't come to any resolution.  These are the answers that they provided me with.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not going to make a big fuss about it, Mr. Chairman, but I have been practicing law for 30 years and I always understood when the witness is on the stand, you don't talk to them.  It's one thing to say, are there typos?  It is another thing to say:  Can we talk about what your evidence is and can we make it better?  In the middle of cross-examination, that's generally not considered appropriate, in my experience.


MR. ENGELBERG:  I agree with the principle stated by Mr. Shepherd, but as I have just explained, that's not what occurred here.  I too have been practising law for 30 years, and I followed the principle that Mr. Shepherd does.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, gentlemen.  Let's move on, Mr. Shepherd your concerns are --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me follow up with Mr. Dumka on his discussion of the rate base implications of this spending.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd (continued):


MR. SHEPHERD:  I take it, Mr. Dumka, what you are saying is that the additional rate base amount that you need in 2009 is made up of two components.  It's made up of half of the 461 you are spending this year, and 200 from last year.


MR. DUMKA:  In terms of the rate base impact, that's correct, under a cost-of-service regime, I might add.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What you are saying is, by happenstance, if you take the 461 you are spending and you deduct the dead band that you are not allowed to collect, that gets you to about 423, which is pretty close to the 430.  Did I understand that?


MR. DUMKA:  Under a cost-of-service, it would be in the range of 430.  Under this third generation IRM application, yes, it is in the range of 420, 422.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what's the point you're making with that?  Help me to understand how that, the relationship between those two numbers, is relevant.


MR. DUMKA:  Sir, you were questioning me with regards to what the impact would be on rate base and what we would recover in our revenue requirement in the two different regimes.


I am providing clarification to you, sir, that under a cost-of-service, our rate base, that the revenue requirement would be calculated upon, would have changed by $430 million under a cost-of-service as compared to, let's call it a notional rate base here under the third generation IRM regime of $420 million, $422 million.  So we are getting a return, notionally, the way the OEB has laid out the third generation IRM model, in this circumstance, on $422 million, $420 million of a rate base.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are saying, then, that the Board didn't intend, in its IRM decision, to have the dead band act as a dead band, per se, because of course you don't end up losing that money, right.  You would have got 430 under cost-of-service and you only get -- you will get 423 under this system so you're saying that is -- that's a wash.

MR. DUMKA:  No, sir, that's not what I said.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am misunderstanding then.  Can you help me again?


MR. DUMKA:  Again, under the third generation IRM scheme, if we look at the one year in isolation, which is what you were doing in the cross-examination yesterday, we have $420 million of notional rate base that is getting handled here under the third generation IRM scheme.  As Dr. Poray outlined in his direct yesterday, the Board's model takes the depreciation in the base year of $187 million and through a number of factors lands on a threshold.


All I have outlined to you, sir, is under that approach there is a dead band of $38 million which is not covered in whatever rate rider is put in for the incremental capital under this third generation IRM scheme.


That's a fundamental difference between a cost-of-service application, if that's what we were in, as compared to a third generation IRM and how it handles the incremental capital.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


I wonder if you could -- maybe this is you, Dr. Poray.  We talked -- I don't know who it is, whoever is the appropriate person to answer this.


We talked yesterday about the presentation to your board in November 2008.  That presentation didn't include the capital module; right?  It says you're going to ask for plain vanilla IRM.


MR. DUMKA:  You are correct, that presentation did not cover that off.


Again, as I clarified, on November 7th we made a submission to this Board of a third generation IRM application, which included incremental capital, and the rate impact of the incremental capital module was 3 percent.  That's clearly outlined in our application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just talking about what you said to your board.  So what you said to your board was:  Plain vanilla IRM for 2009.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  I think as I explained yesterday, Mr. Shepherd, the material that was put together for our board of directors was put together throughout the fall of 2008, and, at that point in time, when we went to our board of directors, we had not updated the plan that they were looking at, at that point in time, for the third generation IRM with a capital module.

The reason we had not was we were still unclear as to what the exact impact was.  So we didn't adjust our formal business plan taken to the board at that time.  So there's an issue of when the material was put together for the board, and then there was an issue around the uncertainty surrounding what the capital module would be, given that we hadn't gotten our 2008 distribution decision, which we didn't get until the third week in December, as I recall.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, Mr. Van Dusen, I'm not being critical in any way of your business plan.  All I'm asking is:  What did you tell your board?  What you told your board in November is plain vanilla IRM; right?  That's what they approved?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We told the board that in the material they were looking at in November, the assumptions underlying the material they were reviewing did not include a third generation IRM with a price cap, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that's what they approved?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So presumably subsequent to that time, you have gone back to them and said, No, we changed our mind.  We want to apply for a capital module.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, sir, we didn't go back to our board to let them know that.  The reason we did not is they were aware that we were going to follow the OEB's third generation IRM approach, and they were content to understand that the management had taken that to them, had informed them that we were going to do that, and the fact that there was a capital module part of the IRM we didn't take back to them to tell them that we specifically were going to include that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you changed from a 2 percent -- actually, I think you told them about a 1 percent rate increase -- to a 4 percent rate increase, and you didn't tell them?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We did not inform them that we had changed that, no.  That's correct, sir, we didn't do that.  We didn't go back and inform them.  Once again, the board's -- they were well aware that we were under -- going to file under an IRM regime.  They were quite content to let management make the decision on what was the appropriate -- you know, the appropriate way to follow the Board's direction in this case.

The Board had outlined the details of the capital module and the IRM, and we followed that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that your general practice, that the decision on rate applications, how much you apply for and under what terms, is determined by management, not the board?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Well, as you can see in the materials that we took to our board in August, and then in November, we do keep our board informed about the projected rate increases based on the plans as they exist.

We also have a regulatory and environmental subcommittee of the board that we go to to inform them about how we're proceeding in terms of our rate applications and the impacts.

We felt we had kept our board informed exactly what we were doing.  As I say, the plans they were reviewing in November did not include that capital module.  So it was inappropriate to tell them that the assumption was that we had -- you know, had it in there, when we didn't have it in there.  It had to be consistent with the assumptions.

But we just saw this as a formalistic and mechanistic approach that our board knew we were going to follow, and all we were doing was refining our application in terms of the details.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you go to the regulatory committee about this?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I personally didn't go to the regulatory committee.  Dr. Poray, would you know whether -- when the regulatory committee was?  Did we go...

DR. PORAY:  I can't recall exactly the date on which we went to the regulatory and environment committee, but we do keep them appraised of developments in the regulatory arena and we would have discussed with them, at some point in time, the use of the price cap index and the capital adjustment module.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's a committee of your board; right?

DR. PORAY:  That's a committee of the board, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So sometime between November 13th and January 30th, you went to that committee and said, We're going to apply for the capital module?

DR. PORAY:  I can't recall the exact date when we went to the regulatory and environment committee.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't ask the exact date.  I asked whether, after you told the board you weren't, and then later you did, between that time, did you go to the committee of your board to tell them you had changed what you were going to do?


I don't care what date it was.  Just tell me whether it was in that time frame.

DR. PORAY:  Excuse me for a moment.

[Witness panel confer]

DR. PORAY:  It is our understanding that we did go in December to the regulatory environment committee.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You made a presentation to them, presumably?

DR. PORAY:  We would have informed them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you file that presentation, then, in confidence, please?


I understand, by the way, that Mr. Thompson asked whether you made any presentations to your board between November 13th and January 30th in a letter on Monday of this week, or Tuesday of this week, and so you have had warning that this request was made.


This is a committee of your board, and whatever presentation was made to them, whatever document was delivered to them, can you please file that in confidence?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  My understanding is there wasn't a presentation.  It was an update, as Dr. Poray has stated.

There was no -- my understanding is there was no filed material.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There was no memo?  There was no PowerPoint?  Nothing?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is how you report to board committees?

MR. ENGELBERG:  We can undertake --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Why should we care?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, because in the same way as the original presentation was relevant to this proceeding because it talked about what the purpose of the plan was, et cetera, the change of decision -- if, for example, it says, We didn't get what we wanted in 2008, now we have to go for a capital module, this Board should be interested in that.

I don't know whether it says that, but that's the sort of thing it might say.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I let this line of cross-examining go on for a long time yesterday, and here we are today with the same line of questioning.

In my submission, these questions have no relevance whatever.  If Hydro One changed its plan to decide to apply for the capital adjustment module in third generation IRM, that's what it decided to do.  Whether that arose from a review of business plans, or whether it arose from the actual numbers that came about after Hydro One received a decision in its distribution cost-of-service hearing or any other cost-of-service hearing, are not relevant.

The bottom line -- nor are all of the exchanges with the board and so forth.  If there's an allegation being made somehow that Hydro One and its management team and its witnesses don't have the authority to be here today to proceed with this application, or to have filed the application in November, or to have updated it in January, that's simply inaccurate.

We are here today and that's what we're doing.  All of the reasons behind it, and any allegation that somehow Hydro One's board of directors is unsupportive of this or unknowledgeable about this, in my respectful submission, are not helpful to the Board in making a decision on whether Hydro One has properly used the capital adjustment module and the third generation IRM formula.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, we made no such allegation.

We asked questions about what was presented to their board.  When they said they hadn't presented anything to the board, we pursued it and found out that they did, because we knew they must have.  You don't go to ask for $20 million of the Ontario Energy Board without getting your board of directors to --

MR. VLAHOS:  First of all, let's ascertain if there is a document, and then the question as to whether it should be produced or not is a different matter.  I understand from the witnesses that there is no such document.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't know with certainty.  My understanding is there is no document.  I don't know with certainty, sir.

MR. ENGELBERG:  We can undertake to find out if there is such a document.  If there is such a document, we will produce it.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J2.1, which I believe is to determine if there was a document presented to the board of directors at the December -- well, maybe I will let Mr. Engelberg --

MR. ENGELBERG:  I think the undertaking was to find out whether there was a document presented to the regulatory and environmental committee.

MR. MILLAR:  My mistake.

MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, just to be clear, if there is a document, did you offer to file it?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  You did, okay.
Undertaking No. J2.1:  To ascertain whether a document was presented to the regulatory and environmental committee, and, if so, to produce.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Let me move on. 


I guess the balance of my cross was actually supposed to be focussed on one area, and so maybe I can turn to that now.


If you take a look, witnesses, at Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 7.  You will see this question is with respect to strategic spare or transformers, as it happens.  You will see that item G of this is asking for your internal presentation to your EMT, supporting this budget.  Do you see that?


MR. JUHN:  Yes, we do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, just before I get to your answer.  Your internal process is that you have management teams -- you have an asset management group that sort of manages the capital expenditure budget, figures out what is appropriate; right?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.  They determine the need.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then that group, presumably with line management support, goes to the EMT to present it for approval; is that right?


MR. JUHN:  Excuse me, I'm not familiar with the term "EMT."

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, it is actually an Enbridge term, "executive management team."

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  I think I can help with part of the overall process-related questions here.


Mr. Shepherd, as indicated in some of the material we filed yesterday as an undertaking, there were several senior management team meetings where the plan is brought before them in various stages and it is reviewed with them, then they provide direction and input.


So as Mr. Juhn has said, there is the asset management group identifies what is the need for the assets, and then we have to go through the process of taking a look at what are some constraints that may exist because of outages, material acquisitions, resources.


We apply those.  We apply management judgment.  We take a look at priorities and strategic vision and that, all that information is brought to bear in discussions with senior management team.  So there are several senior management team meetings where the entire program is brought in front of them and reviewed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In those meetings, the asset management group makes a presentation to the senior management team, the executive management team -- this is what we want to do.  Here is our justification for the need.  Here is the extent to which discretionary or non-discretionary, here is our minimum level and here is what else we put in.  That sort of thing is all built into that package of information you provide them; right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, it is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's presumably more detailed than what you ultimately provide to your board of directors.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then the document that we're asking for here in I-8-7(g), that document does, in fact, exist; right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  There are many, many draft, preliminary presentations and detailed pieces of information associated with the business plan in terms of our assessment of the original asset needs and then the determination of the levels.


Much of this material is preliminary and draft in nature.  What we've provided here in the ISD documents, the investment justification documents, is a summary of that material as required under the Board's directions for, in terms of filing requirements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  But I guess if you would turn to K1.9 you see it says:  Asset plan, final.


So at that point there is a presentation to your executive management team that says, okay, here's the final package for you to say "yes" to.  Isn't that right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that's more detailed than what goes to your board later.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So we have asked in I-8-7 and every other one of the subsequent IRs for that level of justification for each of the components of your capital plan.


And you have now -- if you turn to I-8-7, page 3, you will see your response is a refusal:  We won't provide this information.


So I am inviting you, again, to file that set of documents, that set of justifications.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Mr. Shepherd, two points in response to your question.


One is, Hydro One feels it has filed in front of this Board and provided to the intervenors the level of information which it feels is sufficient to justify our request.


The second point is, I don't see the value of continually providing preliminary, draft views that don't represent our final information that we have in front of the Board.


There are obviously, as part of the rigorous business planning process, all sort of levels of details, asset condition study information, site visits.  Mr. Juhn could go on and on in terms of the background, the detailed information that goes into the development of the plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking for any of that.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm just saying, sir, that information is not the final product.  The final product is what you have in front of you, and as you saw, the information that we take to our board of directors.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well actually I think you have said, and maybe I misunderstood you, that the final product that got to asset plan, final in K1.9 that final product was a significantly more detailed justification that you gave to your executive management team; isn't that right?  You just said that.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's what I am asking.  I'm not asking for your drafts.  I am asking you to file the set of documents that convinced your executive management team of the need, of the non-discretionary nature, of the prioritization for this plan.  Will you file it?  It's a simple yes or no.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Could I have a minute to discuss with my clients re confidentiality and so forth?  Thank you.


[Counsel confers with client]

MR. ENGELBERG:  I am advised that we will not accept Mr. Shepherd's request that that be filed.  The material is still not final.  It has not been accepted and approved by the Board in its final form, it's preliminary, and we, therefore, reject the request that that be filed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I am not going to ask the Board to order this.  The purpose of the question was that if this is what was needed to get the executive management team to approve it, presumably this Board will need at least that much.  If they refuse to file it, it is their onus, is what our argument would be.  However, I would like to ask a follow-up question as a result of Mr. Engelberg's statement.


I guess I will have to ask the witness:  Will you adopt the statement of your counsel, that this material, even today, is preliminary in nature?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I agree with my counsel it is preliminary from the point of view that it doesn't go to the board of directors for approval.  What the board of directors approves is our rate filing in front of this Board and the business plan documentation.


We get agreement from our executive team that this is, this seems good enough for the basis of putting together the formal documentation that will go to our board of directors, but they never formally bless it as:  This is the final approved thing.  The final approved thing that they bless is what they review and goes to the board of directors.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am not asking how the capital budget of $461 million is, continues, today, to be preliminary.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't think we said that.


We said that the final information that goes into our business plan and the final information that goes into our rate filing, that information is based on the business plan and that did get Board approval.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am confused.  Your counsel said the capital budget is preliminary.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Let him speak for himself.  I don't believe he said that.  You were talking about all of the supporting documentation before the materials you have before you, whether that material is absolutely final.  And I agree with his statement, that it is preliminary.  We never get a final formal sign-off on the, on that documentation.  We are told, That's good enough to proceed to put together the material to go to the Board.  We are now happy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will leave that.

Let me move to a couple of other areas, just briefly.  First, Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 4 is School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 4.

You were asked to provide the actual PILs - that is, tax impact - of this additional spending.  You will agree, won't you, that when you have additional capital spending, because of the difference between CCA and depreciation, there is a tax differential?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The Board's model calculates a proxy for the PILs impact of the capital module request; right?

MR. DUMKA:  There's a PILs calculation in the Board model.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not the actual PILs calculation, is it?  That's a proxy for what is likely to be the PILs impact?

MR. DUMKA:  I'm confused as to what you're asking me, sir.

When I read this interrogatory, I understand you to be requesting us to provide a detailed PILs calculation effectively as if we are doing a rate base calculation and everything else.  That's what I understand you to be asking us --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. DUMKA:  -- in part A and B.  I will repeat myself.  This is not a cost-of-service application.  This is a third generation IRM application.

I don't understand the relevance of your request, under a third generation IRM, to provide a detailed PILs calculation for 2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, let me go at this a different way.

When you do your budget, you calculate in your budget - we know, we have seen it - what you expect to pay in taxes; right?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you could recalculate that, assuming that this capital module is taken out; right?  You could?

MR. DUMKA:  I imagine we could run numerous scenarios on PILs calculations for 2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that would be one of them?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that difference, then, between those two numbers would represent the impact, the PILs impact, the actual PILs impact, that you expect of the capital module, right, if you did that, just hypothetically?

MR. DUMKA:  Depending upon the assumptions that you used and how that lined up.  But now we are getting into an alternate universe view of the world.  Now what you're asking us to do is lay out a GAAP calculation of our taxes, et cetera, and now you want us to manipulate that for different scenarios, in terms of capital spend.

I don't understand the relevance of that to this proceeding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am getting there.  I'm just, first of all, trying to identify whether the number could be got.  It could be; right?

MR. DUMKA:  Depending upon the assumptions.  I am not familiar with the calculations which go into our income taxes, et cetera, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the incremental capital adjustment calculation, Exhibit B2-1-2, appendix F - that's page 8 of 8 - there is a number for PILs, right, $590,000?  Sorry, it is more than that, actually -- $590,000.

There is --

MR. DUMKA:  Which line are you pointing to, sir?  I am on appendix F.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is PILs before gross-up, $590,534.  Do you see that?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is no reason to believe that that is actually what the PILs impact will be of this capital spending, is there?

MR. DUMKA:  Sir, we are following the model.  This is the OEB's third generation IRM model.  This is the supplementary module which we have followed in this application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I accept that.

MR. DUMKA:  And I believe that the Board views this as the correct calculation of those figures, and I have no reason to doubt that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me move on.

I wonder if you could turn to Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 5.

I guess what I'm looking at here, on page 2 there is a chart of capital expenditures, 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009.  Do you see that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In most of the categories, things go up and down and up and down, but it's basically, you know, normal year-to-year variations.  There is only three that appear not to be like that.  The three that I identify as not like that are:  PCB retirements, which is brand new, and you've talked about that; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And smart grid, which is a pilot program which is brand new, and you've talked about that; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the leasehold improvements in facilities and real estate, which is a big jump from last year, because this is the year you are spending money on your new head office; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Just one small addition to the answer to the question you had yesterday is that facilities and real estate is not entirely the head office accommodation change.

It includes, also, expenditures for field-related upgrades in service buildings in the field, as well.  So there is a large portion of that which is associated with head office, but not the entire thing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, your sort of year to year is $3- to $4 million, and you got an extra 10 this year because of the head office?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's an approximate guesstimation of the impact, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's actually not going to be in service until next year?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  According to the IRM model, it goes into service this year.  The lease agreement comes up on January 31st, 2010.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn to the next page of that interrogatory response.  This talks about smart meters and refers to the fact that in 2006 and 2007 you had smaller smart meter amounts.


By the way, what was the 2008 number for smart meters?  Do you know the actual?  2009 is 166.7; right?

Can you just give us a ballpark?  Is it somewhere between 118 and 166?

MR. JUHN:  Can you just give us one second?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. JUHN:  The actual expenditure during 2008 was about $106 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm struggling -- sorry.

MR. JUHN:  If I may, interrogatory I-8-5, the one we were just at, the 2007 was $76.7 million.  That's a correction from the initial response for the interrogatory.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So 14 million in 2006, 77 million in 2007, 106 million in 2008, 167 million in 2009.  This is because the program is ramping up to a conclusion; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I was struggling last night trying to understand why the smart meter request in your 2008 rate application was so important to your decision to file for the capital module.

What you asked for in 2008 was that your smart meter spending be close to rate base; right?

MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the board said, No, we would rather leave it in the deferral account.  We are still going to collect it.  We just want to collect it this way, through a rate rider instead of in rate base; isn't that right?

MR. DUMKA:  Well, effectively, the carrying costs would be covered through a rate rider.  That was the Board's decision in the 0681 application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am trying to figure out how that affects whether you apply for a capital module.

MR. DUMKA:  Excuse me, sir.  It doesn't affect whether we apply for capital module because, in fact, we did apply for a capital module on November 7th, 2008.


How that impacted is a treatment of smart meters, in terms -- we have got a threshold calculation, et cetera.  The way we put in the smart meters in November 7th was as regular cap ex,.  That is what we proposed in our application for 2008.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the result is, because the threshold is based on your depreciation, the result would be that virtually all of the smart meter spending -- if it was allowed to be in rate base -- virtually all of your 2009 smart meter spending would be incremental capital; right?  Almost all of it.


MR. DUMKA:  That would be the presentation, sir, and what we've done is we've moved that to the smart meter funding adder rate rider.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So had the Board said yes, you can post it to rate base last year, you would have applied for an additional $9 million this year; right?  Roughly?


MR. DUMKA:  No.  The figure would be larger than that, according to my arithmetic.  But that's what we had in the application on November 7th.


It's clear.  We are not here to discuss the November 7th because we've updated that, but that is how the smart meters were handled in the November 7th application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


Please turn to Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule -- sorry.  Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 6.


You talked a bit about removals yesterday, things that are removed from service, replaced assets, for example.  We asked you to calculate -- provide a table in this interrogatory number B, of how those replaced assets, how the removal of those assets would be reflected in the amounts in this application, the $21 million.


You said:  They're all in B2, tab 1, schedule 2, appendix F.  Do you see your answer there?


So I am looking, trying to find out how they're reflected.  Can you show us how they're reflected in there?


MR. DUMKA:  Could you clarify for me please, sir, what you mean by "removal from service."  Are you referring to capital retirement, sir, is that what you're referring to?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I think --

MR. DUMKA:  I am going to the Board model.  Maybe I can ask you to flip up appendix E, this is Exhibit B2, 1, 2, appendix E, page 7 of 8.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. DUMKA:  I just wanted to clarify what you -- what you mean in that interrogatory.


I take it you're referring to capital retirements as outlined here in the Board model?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought this was really clear.  There are certain assets that are being replaced by other assets.  And that have a net book value at the end of the test year.  True?


MR. DUMKA:  Not necessarily, sir.  I would believe, if they're being replaced, they're being retired.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There's a book value that you have to take out; right?


MR. DUMKA:  Well, I believe we went through this discussion yesterday, and unfortunately I have to get into a rather detailed discussion.  Excuse us for a minute.


[Witness panel confer]

MR. DUMKA:  Sir, with regards to the retirements, the way the Board model is laid out, we are here at appendix E.  Have you got that turned up?  That’s G31 in the model depreciation and C.C.A. factors.

You're referring to capital retirements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a C.C.A. calculation.

MR. DUMKA:  No, no, no, sir.  The top part is fixed assets and accumulated depreciation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. DUMKA:  And I will point you to -- it's about the fourth or fifth row down.  It's labelled capital retirements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. DUMKA:  You will see there is a zero value there.  We haven't entered the cost-of-service rate-base calculations.  The way the Board model handles this, the capital retirements are attributed -- line up with a row further down called gross fixed assets attributable to prior years.


That's where the retirements roll into.  That has no impact on the calculation that you have before you here in terms of the incremental revenue requirement, the depreciation associated with that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Finally, my last question is with respect to the leasehold improvements.  I wonder if you can turn up 1, 8, 29.  Sorry, I-8-29.


You have some eight or ten million dollars of leasehold improvements that you are spending this year; right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So we asked, Can you give us the lease?  And can you tell us stuff about, you know, what sort of leasehold improvement allowance are you getting, and how much is the landlord paying and all of this sort of stuff.  You basically said, No, you can't have that.  Sorry.  Lease costs are OM&A, you can't have anything about the lease.  So I am going to ask you again, can you please file the lease.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Hydro One will not be filing the lease.  First of all, I don't know that the lease has even been finalized.  Secondly, my understanding is that the lease is confidential and that there is or will be a confidentiality clause in it, and it would not be available for those reasons.


Thirdly, in the context of this application, I would submit that the lease is not relevant.  It's OM&A.  To the extent, if any, that it provides for obligations to pay for capital improvements, leasehold improvements by Hydro One, that is information that Hydro One has provided in this hearing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Where is that?  Where is the information on the negotiated allowance?


MR. ENGELBERG:  I understood -- I don't recall which witness it was yesterday, I think it may have been Mr. Van Dusen, gave information about the amounts that Hydro One would be required to spend as part of the transaction with the landlord.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  In addition, investment summary document, SS3, which is in Exhibit B1, tab 3, schedule 7, page 26, provides the information on the capital expenditures as well as the other expenditures for non-head-office-related items.


Further to that, we filed evidence in the shared services capital exhibit which is B1, tab 3, schedule 6, on this topic, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Give me that reference again; B1, tab 3, schedule, what?  Six?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Six, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Page, what?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The discussion starts on page 7 where we discuss the facilities and real estate capital expenditures, and it continues on to the bottom of page 8.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So where does it tell us what you are actually spending and what the landlord is giving you as a partial payment against that?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I believe, as already articulated by Mr. Engelberg, first of all, that the lease is not final, and second of all most of those would be OM&A-related -- many of those would be OM&A related expenditures and not the subject of investigation in this proceeding.  They're not part of the IRM model.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the landlord is not giving you a leasehold improvement allowance?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Um...

MR. ENGELBERG:  My understanding, as has already been stated, is that the amounts that need to be spent by Hydro One have been provided.  If there were some sort of income from the landlord, that would be OM&A.


My understanding is, further, that the amounts spent by Hydro One reflect anything that Hydro One does not have to pay for because the landlord may be paying for it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, Mr. Chairman, here's why I'm raising this.  It is common practice for a landlord, particularly in a big transaction like this, to pay a sum of money at the front of the transaction to defray the costs of leasehold improvements.

If what Hydro One is doing is they're spending 10 and they're getting 20, which is probably about right, is my guess from the current marketplace - it might be more than 20 - and they're saying, Well, the 20 doesn't count; the 10 you have to pay for, ratepayers, but the 20 doesn't count, this is something the Board should know.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, can I ask, is this -- is this all OM&A related?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  The leasehold improvements are capital.  That's part of the capital module.  The landlord is, I suspect, but I don't know -- because they won't tell us and they won't show us the lease.  The landlord is probably giving them an amount of money that offsets the cost of the leasehold improvements.  It is called a leasehold improvement allowance, typically.

If Hydro One has structured it so that it doesn't look like it's a -- it's defraying a capital cost, but, rather, is OM&A so they don't have to count it, that's artificially increasing the capital budget.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I think, if I understand what Mr. Shepherd is saying, he's concerned about whether there has been double counting and whether Hydro One is being honest with this.  In other words, is Hydro One attempting to charge to the ratepayers, through the third generation IRM model capital, expenditures which Hydro One has not netted against any payments from the landlord to offset that.

Hydro One would be pleased to answer that question, as to whether there has been double counting.

MR. VLAHOS:  Is that now, by the witnesses?


MR. ENGELBERG:  If the witness is aware of that.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  And, absolutely, these costs are -- any net costs that were involved in the estimate put together to support the 2009 capital expenditures, there's no double counting and there's no additional funds that are not -- that are not shown in here.  This is the amount Hydro One will have to spend.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, page 7 of the filing guidelines says that the application must show what recoveries are coming from other people as part of capital expenditures.

All I'm asking is:  What's the gross expenditure, and how much are you recovering?  It's required in the filing guidelines, and I don't see why there's such a fuss about it.  It is in their lease documents.

MR. VLAHOS:  So the amount that is in the evidence, Mr. Van Dusen, is the net amount.  Is it a gross amount that leads to the net amount?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  There most likely is, sir, yes.  Once again, this number, the amount which is in front of the Board right now, is put together as part of our planning process last year, so it was based on a high level estimate we had at that point in time, which we still feel is a reasonable number to bring forward.  But, yes, the gross number probably exists.

MR. ENGELBERG:  In our submission, if there were a gross amount that had been provided, it would be quite proper for Hydro One to reflect any payments received from the landlord.

However, what the subject of this application is is the amount of capital expenditures by Hydro One.  Hydro One has provided that amount, and Hydro One has just stated, through Mr. Van Dusen, that there is no income amount from the landlord to be deducted from that.

Therefore, in my submission, Hydro One has complied with the filing guidelines, is not double counting and is not being dishonest with any of this.  This is the amount that has to be paid by Hydro One.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, Mr. Van Dusen says there is no income amount.  Any reason to dispute that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I think his counsel said the amounts that are coming from the landlord are OM&A, so I don't know what the answer is.

The easiest way to find this out is file the document.

MR. VLAHOS:  Let's clarify it.  Mr. Van Dusen said there is no income amount for 2009.  Am I correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I believe I used that word "income", Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What is the income we're talking about, offsetting?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Any offsetting amount that is coming in from the landlord that would reduce the amount of capital expenditure that Hydro One is paying.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right, okay.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So, Mr. Chairman, I agree with Mr. Shepherd's characterization of how these arrangements are usually entered into, in terms of upfront monies being received from -- that's standard business practice.  We understand that, and what we're saying is this number that we have in front of the Board already reflects the fact that there was a higher number.


It was reduced to come to the number that we had that we have to collect, that we have to pay.  That is Hydro One's obligation, Hydro One's obligation alone.

Just a further clarification.  Mr. Shepherd is asking for something that wouldn't pertain to the information we have in front of the filing.  He's asking for a lease which isn't finalized, but, even if it was finalized, it wouldn't pertain necessarily to the information we have in front of the Board.

These estimates were put together about this time last year, if not earlier, in terms of supporting our business planning process.  Obviously the process of moving forward in the negotiations have gone on.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So are you suggesting that the number is not correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am suggesting that I know this number was a preliminary number and that the actual number, which I am not privy to -- I am not involved in the negotiations.  I am just saying I know they have moved on.  This was a high level estimate.  The negotiations have moved on.  I understand they are very close, but I am not aware of the final information.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so I understand it, this idea of offsetting, this is still an issue that is in play, as far as you are concerned?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  As far as I know, yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  So how can you satisfy Mr. Shepherd that this estimate that existed is still reasonable, number 1; number 2, that it is not double counting, that indeed it is the net number?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Perhaps I can be of help there, Mr. Chair.  There are two separate issues as you pointed out.  One is whether the number is final.  One is whether there has or will ever be any double counting or lack of honesty in netting what the total cost is against the payment that comes in from the landlord.

MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry, it is not a matter of honesty.  It is a matter of the numbers before the Board to set rates.  At least this Board is not questioning that.  I don't think Mr. Shepherd is either.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.

MR. ENGELBERG:  But the first issue is whether the amount is accurate, and that is a fair question to Mr. Van Dusen.

The second amount, the second matter, I submit he has answered, and that is whether there has or will be any double counting.  But the question regarding whether the number is final and how close it may be is a fair question.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So with regard to that question, Mr. Chairman, I think I could be somewhat helpful.

Hydro One did think about this before we proceeded with this information in front of the Board, because the estimate, as I said, was put together a year ago.  So there have been changes.  There have been several changes, one change potentially moving the price down and one change potentially moving the price up.

Because of that, we thought the information in front of the Board still was a valid representation of the cost that Hydro One will have to pay.

One of the changes which hasn't quite manifested itself yet is obviously the cost of leasing space in the downtown Toronto environment or GTA environment.  There is some pressure downwards on leasing expenses that is being seen.


Offsetting that is the additional space requirements.  Since we put together the original estimate and we did a detailed analysis, there has been a need for additional space requirements we hadn't identified in the initial exhibit.

So, notionally, when we took a look at that, we said the number we have in front of the Board is still a reasonable estimate that we feel is a good estimate to bring forward to the Board that we're willing to defend.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if this is going to sound like an off-the-wall suggestion, but who knows.  I wonder if a possible way of resolving this is, since this stuff is not going to close to rate base until next year, anyway, and since there's going to be a cost-of-service application next year, anyway, which will have the lease and everything else all filed in it, I wonder if Hydro One would simply agree to remove this from its current application.


It is $10 million.  Take it next year.  It's not going to make much of a difference to them, but it will solve the problem.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I see no reason to do that, but I am certainly willing to get some instructions from my clients as to whether they would be willing to do that, and I can do that during the morning break.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.  Those are my questions.  I'm sorry to take longer than I expected.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Miller, do we need an undertaking for that?

MR. MILLAR:  I don't think that is necessary.  Mr. Engelberg will get back to us, I'm sure.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

Mr. Buonaguro, are you ready to proceed?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Only with the caveat that I was going to use my computer on the presentation system.  So if the Board was thinking of taking the break any time soon, it may as well be now.

MR. VLAHOS:  Let's break now, then, for 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 10:15 a.m.


--- On resuming at 10:30 a.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We need to activate the microphones, Mr. Engelberg.

MR. VLAHOS:  Go ahead.

MR. ENGELBERG:  First of all, I was to find out whether approval was sought from the regulatory environmental committee by way of a document presented to them, and the answer is "no."

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Secondly, just before the break, we were asked by Mr. Shepherd if Hydro One would be willing to back the leasehold improvement amounts out of this application.  The answer to that is "no."

What I learned, what I was able to confirm are three things.  First of all, these are all expenditures that the company will be making this year, 2009.

Secondly, I was able to confirm that the estimate in Hydro One's application is still valid; and, number 3, these expenditures go into service as soon as they are spent.

So those are the reasons that Hydro One will not be backing the leasehold dollars out of this application.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  One follow-up question, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In-service in the year, as soon as spent; help me to understand how a leasehold improvement is -- I am asking the witnesses -- becomes used and useful before you occupy the premises.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  As we go through the process of making the leasehold improvements, we will be moving staff into those sections.  It's not as if you come in to a brand new building and have to totally gut it.  You would be doing sections of floors and sections of buildings and we're able to move staff in through 2009.  So the asset does become used and useful in that regard.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do I understand correctly, then, that it is not as the spent -- money is spent, but rather as you then finish each section, you can move some staff in.  Is that right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  You asked two questions there.  One is the assumption for in-service additions that we're using in 2009 that as we spend the money it goes into service.  And as I said, during 2009, as we make the improvements, we will be moving staff into the new facilities, the new locations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right, thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


Mr. Thomson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I am okay with that transcript correction.

MR. VLAHOS:  You are, okay, thanks.  Mr. Buonaguro.
  MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, panel.


I am going to pick the bones over my cross and it shouldn't be -- I won't be needing the hour and half I had originally scheduled.  I think it will be something in the order of 30 to 40 minutes.


I would like to start with the two programs that I think throughout the course of the hearing so far Hydro One has confirmed are new programs.  I would like to start with the PCB program.


I think it has been fairly well confirmed that there are two elements to that, there is $10.2 million of spending that shows up in stations and $1 million that shows up under the lines area of spending; is that correct?


MR. JUHN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And in the interrogatory process, the company was asked for some specifics of the spending, and I am pulling up on the screen here Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 7.  You were asked about the $1 million of the spending and to specify what it was for and the highlighted part of the response is what I am interested in.


You confirm that the 2009 cost of the program relates to the removal and disposal of the estimated 100 pad-mounted transformers that are expected to contain greater than 500 ppm; do you see that?


MR. JUHN:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That raised a question in our mind as to with respect to the $10.2 million, what that relates to, in terms of whether it relates to removal of equipment that is also greater than 500 ppm, or is it removal of equipment that's over 50 ppm or some combination of the two?


MR. JUHN:  It's primarily the removal of equipment above 500 parts per million, plus the purchase of spare transformers and MUS as required to manage that situation.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So -- well, is there a part of the $10.2 million that's related to removal of equipment that's over 50 ppm but not over 500?


MR. JUHN:  If you can just give me one second.  We provided some information in an interrogatory on that topic.


Interrogatory I-5, tab 5, schedule 5, we listed stations that had contamination above or PCB levels in oil above 500 parts per million.  It's the ones that are listed under section 1.1.4.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So by looking at, it looks like it is split, oh, there is, one, two, three -- eight under 1.13 and one, two -- five under 1.1.4.  Would that mean that the costs would be split between these two so that the $10.2 million is split between section 1.1.3, stations that are below 500 ppm, and then 1.1.4 stations that are above 500 ppm?  Would that be how it would be allocated between the two groups?


MR. JUHN:  The stations in 1.1.3, they're part of our regular refurbishment program, and the stations in 1.1.4 are stations that have PCB concentration above.  So they're above 500 parts per million.  So they're part of the PCB elimination.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So am I to understand that the $10.2 million relates only to the 1.1.4?


MR. JUHN:  It relates to the 1.1.4 plus the purchase of the spare transformers and the MUSs that are identified in -- if you can just give me one second I will direct you to the IJD.


It is, yes, investment summary document under Exhibit B, 1, tab 3, schedule 7, and it would be S-3.  It highlights that it involves a number of purchase of spare transformers.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, B1, tab 3, schedule 7, Page 5?


MR. JUHN:  Yes.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. JUHN:  Yes, it is.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So the $10.2 million is broken up into $6 million for MUSs and $4.2 million for spare transformers.


And what I am trying to understand is that the use of those in 2009, are they restricted to the 1.1.4 identified stations?  Or is it a more general use?


MR. JUHN:  The spare transformers?  Is that what you're referring to?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, the spare transformers and MUSs.

MR. JUHN:  Yes, they are.  It is more general use.  We did submit another interrogatory and provided information on the elements in a station that have to be tested for PCB concentration above 500 parts per million and it includes the bushings on the transformers.


At this particular time we have no idea what the concentration of the PCBs in that oil, that oil contains and, as such, we need the spare transformers to proceed with the testing program as well as dealing with the various stations that we have already identified that contain above 500 parts per million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, over in investment summary document S1, which is a few pages earlier, you have spare transformers costs, as well; correct?

MR. JUHN:  Yes, we do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Could you explain whether it would be possible to combine these two areas of spending, because one of the -- the significant -- you have $4.2 million in spending in this particular S3 document for the PCB costs, but, at the same time, you are buying spare transformers under investment document summary S1.

It seems intuitive that the two could be combined.

MR. JUHN:  The reason that they were separated is because the spare transformers provide different functionalities.  The spare transformers under S1 provide an ability to respond to problems on the system, so that if we do have a failure on our transformer and it is significant, and we have to deploy a spare, that one is available.


So that's the S1.  It is responding to emergency problems, where the ones identified in S3, they are for the purpose of managing the PCBs, the testing, the retrofitting, and such.


So the purposes are quite different, and that is why we've sort of compartmentalized it in that fashion.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Isn't there an opportunity, though, to use them for the PCB removal but then, if there is an emergency, switch uses on a temporary basis?

MR. JUHN:  These are the amounts in each of the areas that we are going to -- that we are going to need transformers.  By blending them together, I think it would confuse the situation.  So that's why we have compartmentalized it, and those are the needs identified in each of those particular areas.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I would like to move on to the smart grid, which you have spoken about over the last day and a half.  I would like to clarify something, in particular.

Looking at -- actually, looking at IR response I-8-5, which you have been to today already I think once, this sets out the 2006 to 2009 spending, page 2.

MR. JUHN:  Yes, I have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Under smart grid, we have here zero expenditures up until 2009.  Do you see that?

MR. JUHN:  Up to 2009, yes.  In 2008, yes, zero was identified.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, my understanding, though -- and this is at B1, tab 3, schedule 5, page 5, and I have highlighted the part here.  The $6.8 million in 2009 that we see on that previous interrogatory response answer, you have clarified here that it included $3.1 million of spending that was previously funded under system reinforcement.  I presume that means for 2008?

MR. JUHN:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it isn't technically true to say that there was no smart grid spending in 2008.  In fact, there was $3.1 million of smart grid spending which was categorized under the broader heading of system reinforcement; is that how I should understand it?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.  The smart grid program had not been put into place, and we did not adjust the numbers to coincide to the various programs from a historic perspective.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I want to make sure I understand.  The 2.1 million that was previously in system reinforcement, was that smart grid related spending?

MR. JUHN:  Under the current definition, it is smart grid related spending.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, I see.  Thank you.  Just to follow up with Mr. Shepherd's questioning on the smart grid spending, I think you confirmed that we're talking basically about pilot projects?

MR. JUHN:  Sorry, could you repeat that?

MR. BUONAGURO:  We're talking about pilot projects which are being used to test technologies and business processes in order to assess technology readiness and to develop business cases?

MR. JUHN:  If I could just -- if you can just give me one second to pull out the investment summary document?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MR. JUHN:  It includes three primary areas, and it's Exhibit B1, tab 3, schedule 7, page 19.

The trial installations, the D-VAR visibility study, it's in a geographic location where we are expecting a significant number of generators to connect, and that is the pilot project in that area.

The installation of the distribution automation for the LD reclosures, that is an extension of work that had been done previously under development.  It is also being focussed in that area in terms of the smart grid initiative, and the distribution station monitoring, as well.  So those are the three components.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I don't think you have to turn it up, but you've been talking about the filing guidelines over the last day and a half, and I think you would agree one of the filing guidelines requires the company to demonstrate that a particular item of spending is -- that you are requesting incremental treatment of is clearly non-discretionary.  Is that familiar to you?

MR. JUHN:  Yes, it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I would like you to explain why spending on pilots in assessment of technologies in the way that you describe in the investment summary would be considered non-discretionary money or non-discretionary spending?

MR. JUHN:  I can identify the need for this, and we definitely consider it to be an absolute necessity.  The need is based on where you have a system, a distribution system, that is -- supplies load predominantly without generation being injected into it.  The fact that we are now experiencing a number of new generation connections, there are certain elements of risk to our customers, to our system, that, if we do not understand fully, if we do not make the appropriate adjustments, as time goes on we are going to experience significant problems.

To prepare for that and to modernize our system, these investments are absolutely necessary.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So are you suggesting that if you don't spend this money in 2009 -- what will happen?

MR. JUHN:  If you look at the description of the various projects, generators create a level of voltage fluctuations in our system which, if we do not understand the situation and make adjustments for it, that is going to impact our customers.  That is going to create outages and also create some system -- some voltage variations that are in excess of what our standards require and what the Canadian Standards Association requires us to manage within.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

I am going to turn up Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 14.  It's an interrogatory response.  Here the Consumers Council of Canada asked you to provide evidence that the proposed spending was prudent.  In your answer you referred to the business planning and work prioritization process that was used to develop the proposed development spending for 2009.  Do you see that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.

Then back on the previous question from the Consumers Council of Canada, schedule 13, you were asked for the actual prioritization of the projects, and, again, you referred to the process; correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you agree with me that other than providing the total spending, you haven't provided information in this document or in this filing as to how the business planning and prioritization process actually evaluated and assessed the various spending opportunities?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, I would not agree with you.

In response to one of the interrogatories we filed, the evidence about the planning process that was used in this year's -- to prepare this evidence, it was evidence from the previous distribution filing.  I am looking for it now, but there is -- I will find that reference for you in a minute.  But there is information about the planning process that we went through.


In addition, Hydro One filed at the beginning of the proceedings two pieces of evidence indicating the various iterations, some of the various iterations in the business planning process on the distribution side in terms of Sunnybrook 1, 2 and 3, if I could call it that.  In addition, we filed information on the risk based minimum level and then we also filed information in response to Mr. Shepherd, in terms of the overall asset need level that was the initial level.


So between the overall planning process which we filed in response to an interrogatory and those other filings, we do feel we have provided a fair bit of information about the process we went through to arrive at this filing.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Just to confirm some of the documents you're talking about, when you talked about the Sunnybrook sessions you're talking about K1.9?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I am.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Presumably you're talking -- I guess the updated exhibit would be J1.1?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And that's it?  Those are the documents you're relying on?  I hadn't specified everything you talked about, but you gave me a summary of the documents you are relying on and I identified two specifically.  But that's your summary of what actually happened?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's the high level summary of what happened.  If you wish, we could -- between Mr. Juhn and myself we could take you through the details of specific projects and programs, in terms of the overall process and the considerations that came to bear and the eventual list that was prepared for you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Why wasn't that in the original filing?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Hydro One has relied on the information about its planning process that was provided in response to the interrogatory, in many of the previous proceedings that we've had in front of this Board, and then that evidence has been tested in cross-examination and the Board has found that sufficient.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So am I to understand, then, that Hydro One's position is that as long as we know what process you are using, that should be sufficient?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think that a clear understanding of the process and then the detailed cross-examination which has happened in this proceeding and other proceedings, should give the Board and the intervenors comfort with respect to the processes that we follow and the rigour of the process, and the ultimate decisions that we bring forward for approval.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I would like you to turn to Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 2, part G, this is the interrogatory response where you're talking about your overhead capitalization rates.  I am actually only really interested in the 2008 number.


In this table, you said the overhead capitalization rate for 2008 was 8.7 percent.


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is this what was used in the 2008 distribution rate application?


MR. DUMKA:  I believe that figure is consistent.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Do you want to take that subject to check, then?  Are or are you sure that is it?


MR. DUMKA:  I am pretty confident that it is.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Would that therefore be the rate that was approved by the Board?


MR. DUMKA:  Effectively, yes, sir.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me what the rate, what rate you used for 2009 in determining the proposed capital spending levels?


MR. DUMKA:  I believe the rate is in the range of 10 percent, sir.


MR. BUONAGURO:  10 percent?


MR. DUMKA:  I think it is 10.7.


MR. BUONAGURO:  10.7?


MR. DUMKA:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, my understanding would mean that by raising the rate from 8.7 percent, you are shifting more costs from OM&A to capital for 2009.


MR. DUMKA:  What we're doing is reflecting the amount of support provided to the capital program by the shared services functions.


So we have an amount and we allocate the appropriate amount, in terms of the support provided to the OM&A or the capital program.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you are nodding while you are saying that.  I assume that means that the effect is that more costs are shifted from OM&A to capital?


MR. DUMKA:  Yes.  I guess what's -- I have to get across is, it's not a steady state assumption as well.


The amount in the shared services bucket is -- has gone up in line with the support to the capital program.  What I'm suggesting to you, sir, is it is a net-net.  There is more going to capital, but the overall impact, in terms of let's call it the base year OM&A spend is not going down from the absolute level.  I am just picking numbers out of the air.  Let's say it was a hundred million dollars and let's say we shifted three or four million dollars to capital.  In fact what has happened is the overall bucket has increased as well.


MR. BUONAGURO:  What do you mean by -- I don't understand.  You're saying that yes, you shifted -- the higher rate does in fact shift costs from OM&A to capital?


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The second part you're saying is, but don't worry about it because our OM&A has gone up as well?


MR. DUMKA:  My understanding, based on -- yes.  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You're explaining to me it has gone up because of shared services?


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Did you want to explain further why the shared services are going up?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  This is a question about Hydro One's OM&A levels, but, yes.  Our shared services costs, as we witnessed in the recent transmission proceeding and witnessed in the 2008 distribution proceeding, are increasing as well.  There are several drivers for the increase in costs from the 2008 to 2009.  We talked about the large work program and the need for the various areas to support a large work program.

As an example in the asset management area, to the extent that you are planning a much larger work program and planning a much more complex work program as identified, as exampled by something like smart grid and smart meters, it requires more resources in terms of the detailed engineering resources that would be in, for example, Mr. Juhn's area.


In terms of the CF&S, the common corporate functions and service costs, there were also increases there in terms of the move to international financial reporting standards, as one example.  And those were some of the examples that we used in terms of why the OM&A costs have gone up.


So the overhead capitalized process, which is the Board-approved methodology which we have gotten approved at a recent -- re-approved at the recent transmission distributions, takes a look at the overall dollars in the common services, takes a look at the amount of those which are appropriately attributable to capital, takes a look at the size of the capital work program and then computes the appropriate rate to attribute the correct dollars to the capital program in T&D.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Did you ask for approval of a change in the overhead capitalization rate as part of this process?


MR. DUMKA:  In terms of the distribution program?  No.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And can you explain to me why it would be appropriate under an IRM regime to change the overhead capitalization rate with the effect of moving costs from OM&A to capital, and then recover the capital as part of the capital incremental module.


MR. DUMKA:  Sir, you are viewing this from, I would suggest, a limited perspective.  What this reflects is the amount of support that the shared services function is providing to the capital work program.


You have in front of you a growth in the capital work program from 2008 to 2009 from $400 million to $460 million.  So the overhead capitalization rate is ensuring that the correct amount of shared services support is going to that capital program.  That's simply what we're doing here.


MR. BUONAGURO:  With the effect of reducing your OM&A.


MR. DUMKA:  Sir, yes, that's correct.  As Mr. Van Dusen outlined to you moments earlier, the overall OM&A program -- sorry, the overall resources there in shared services are also going up.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Dumka, can I just clarify for myself?  When one looks at the 8.7 percent rate, for example, for 2008 --

MR. DUMKA:  Right.

MR. VLAHOS:  -- I should read that differently from, say, a depreciation rate.  Is that what you're saying, that a depreciation rate is a rate that you apply to certain capital?

In this case the 8.7 percent, it is a fallout number from applying the methodology; is that what you're saying?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, it is.  It's the -- we had an approved methodology for calculating overheads capitalized and the amount of dollars which are appropriately determined to be associated with the capital program that are in the corporate common functions and services area and common cost area.

It's a product of the methodology, plus the size of the capital work program, plus the size of the overall common costs.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So I guess it is -- maybe the confusion is we're still referring to it as a rate.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  But it's not a rate in a sense of a depreciation rate, that you take that rate and you multiply by a quantum.  This is a fallout -- this is a division of one number over another, and those numbers come from a methodology that has been approved by the Board.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  But this rate, the overhead capitalization rate, the way we use it in the actual, as we make capital expenditures, we apply the overhead capitalized rate to the capital expenditures to attribute to them the appropriate amount of common OM&A costs.  So as you're spending the capital, you attribute dollars consistent with this rate.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So the 8.7 percent may not be found anywhere in terms of applying to a specific -- to a specific expenditure.  It is just the overall result of --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  All of the capital expenditures in 2008 would have had an eight-point cent factor -- 8.7 percent factor attributed to them.  So what we would have done is we said, Here are the total OM&A costs.  We would have removed the part from OM&A, and that is present in our presentations on transmission and distribution cost-of-service, and we attribute that to the capital program via this rate.

So each one of the capital program costs that you see in our application has an amount of overheads capitalized embedded in it, which are the attributable -- attribution, sorry, of the cost -- common costs to the capital program, consistent with the approved Board methodology and consistent with GAAP.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  So going back to my original -- my original proposition does not stand, then.  It should be viewed the same as an overall depreciation rate?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  In regards that it is applied to a fixed capital program, yes, sir.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  Okay.  Sorry, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Just to follow up, this is interrogatory response -- response I-8-3 I am showing on the screen here.  I am looking at part (c).

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just so I understand, if you follow the columns down 2008, you have a total of $44.6 million of capitalized overhead for 2008.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the rate that was used is 8.7 percent?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so if you do the math, that 8.7 percent -- sorry, $44.6 million is 8.7 percent of approximately $513 million, subject to check?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then if we do the same for 2009, $47.9 million in capitalized overhead for 2009, correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then 47.9 million is 10.7 percent of approximately $448 million, subject to check?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that the overhead costs have gone down from $513 million in 2008 to $440 million in 2009?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry, I don't follow that last leap of logic that you --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, what I understand is that for 2008 you have overhead of $513 million and you are capitalizing 8.7 percent of it.  Is that how I understand that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, what we're missing in this calculation is we don't have any of the common OM&A costs in front of you.  That information is not available here.

So you are missing a piece of the puzzle that I don't have in front of me.  You need to know -- for this to make sense, you need to know what were the overall corporate common costs that you had.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But you would agree that 8.7 percent times $513 million is what got you to the 44.6 million?  I think it has to be.

[Witness panel confer]

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, I apologize for being so slow here.  I have to go back.  So I understand the calculation you did, but what you need to do is there's the other variable you don't have in front of you, which is the corporate common costs.

You need to know what the level of the corporate common costs are and the amount which is attributable to overhead to be able to do that calculation, to make the calculation that you are trying to do make sense.

So I don't know what the overall -- I don't have in front of me what the overall pot of common cost dollars were, the amount that was attributable to capital, and then the amount which is further attributable to distribution.

You would have to have all of that information to do the calculation you are trying to do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just want to understand.  The numbers that we're looking at here in table (c) -- or, sorry, in response (c), we're talking about distribution-related overhead?  Like, this is what was attributed to distribution?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  That's what it is, yes, sir.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You're talking about -- you don't have the common costs, and I am not sure I am understanding what the problem is.  I mean, if you have 8.7 percent of -- if 44.6 million is 8.7 percent of a number, then you can figure out the number.

We've got 513 for 2008.  Are you worried about what the $513 million relates to?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  I have to take you back to the methodology and how the methodology -- you first calculate what is the level of dollars that needs to be capitalized, and then you calculate the rate and you apply that rate to the capital work program.

So you need to know what that pot of dollars is.  That's how the methodology works.  It depends on what the level of dollars is that you're trying to attribute to the capital work program, which comes from the common costs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so that I am clear on that, so what you are doing is working backward from a target?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So you have targeted a certain amount of the shared services for capitalization?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And you determine that amount, and then you derive the rate from that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's how we get 10.7 percent for 2009?  You had -- 2008, you had 8.7.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You established a number from your shared services bucket?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You established a number from your shared services bucket that was X amount, and you then derived the 8.7 percent rate --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- reflecting that.  And that's the same methodology you are using for 2009?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So you had a targetted amount that you determined was overheadable --

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- from your shared services bucket, and that ended up being 10.7 percent.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  And the rate derived was for 10.7.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Vlahos was half right in his assessment that it was a derived number.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I guess I was getting myself tongue-tied in the word "derived" but yes, how you have articulated it is correct and I apologize if I misinformed.

MR. QUESNELLE:  If I can summarize without trying to confuse this.  You are establishing something which will attract those overhead dollars at a certain rate based on a projection of activity?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  As that activity may change, that rate will obviously have to change as the year goes through, through your budgeting process, you will have different numbers that will draw based on your year-end projections as it changes?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.  We do a quarterly adjustment to the overhead capitalization rate and also, in addition, as was approved in the overall methodology there's what's called an E-factor which we now have corrected, because we correct in year.  But originally in the 2006 application we didn't have that process in place, and there was an E-factor adjustment made in 2008 as a result of the -- because there's several moving parts the overall level of capital, the overhead level of common costs that you need to adjust.  Now, on a quarterly basis, we adjust our rate to make sure we're very close by the end of the year.  Yes, sir.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Just one follow-up question on that, then.  You talk about this targeting process and coming up with an amount that you want to attribute to capital.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there evidence of that process in the application?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Not in this application, sir, but it has been subject of great discussion in recent transmission and distribution cost-of-service applications and the Board has approved the methodology.  We apply the Board-approved methodology to come up with the dollars.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.


I would like you to turn up Exhibit I, tab I, schedule 7.  This was an interrogatory about Cornerstone spending.  I am interested in the part that I have highlighted here, where the company says:



The incremental capital amount requested in this application does not reflect the full 2009 Cornerstone capital expenditures.


Simply put, we didn't understand what that meant.  So we thought you could explain for us now.


[Witness panel confer]

MR. VAN DUSEN:  After discussions with my colleagues, with all due respect, I think it is perhaps not the best choice of words.  The dollars that are in our application that we show for 2009 for Cornerstone are the dollars that are -- we are applying for, are the dollars consistent with our expected level of spend.


I think this was making some vague reference to some of the deltas you would have seen in terms of our 2008 approved versus our 2008 actuals and what there was, was there was a shifting of cash flows from 2009 to 2008, which resulted in one of the deltas that you see in some the analysis that we provided in interrogatory responses.

I think that is what the vague reference was to, but the expenditures which are in our application for the Cornerstone project are the full expenditures for 2009, the cash flows are the ones that are part of our application that we are seeking approval of.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I would like you to turn up Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 8.


This is an interrogatory where you were asked about the number of new connections, in part.  I am looking at part A of the response.  This response suggests that for 2009 you are forecasting 17,685 new connections.  Is that correct?


MR. JUHN:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  If you could turn up Exhibit B2, tab 1, schedule 1, there is a table there, table 1, which shows amongst other things, the number of customers for 2008,  that being 1.21 million.  Do you see that?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  If we take the previous number was approximately, it was 17,685.  We used the number, we rounded it up to 17,700 new connections, and we added that to the 1.211 million that we show here.  We are looking at, as far as we understand, a roughly 1.46 percent increase in customer base in terms of connections.


Can you take that subject to check?  If you want to do the math, you are free to do so.


MR. JUHN:  We can take that.


DR. PORAY:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, now looking at B2, tab 1, schedule 2, Appendix D.


This is the threshold test.  G2.1, threshold test document.  If we look at the growth rate that was used, we have -- and we talked about this before, I think, 0.48 percent.  Do you see that?


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I guess the reason the growth rate is important, and I am just quoting from the filing guidelines:  The filing requirements require evidence that the incremental revenue requested will not be recovered through other means, i.e., funded by expansion of service to include new customers or other load growth.


Does that quote sound familiar to you from the filing guidelines?


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


Now, as I said, we've calculated roughly 1.46 percent increase in customer connections between 2008 and 2009.  And you have used a growth factor of 0.48 percent, which means that what we call our rough calculation of growth seems to be triple the one used in your calculation, approximately 0.5 versus approximately 1.5.  Do you see where we have done that?


DR. PORAY:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  This suggests to us that you are maybe missing incremental revenue by using a low growth rate, and I would ask you if you would agree.


[Witness panel confer]

MR. DUMKA:  Excuse me, could you repeat your question, please?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, you will see, I will summarize what I have just gone through.

MR. DUMKA:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You use a growth rate of .48 percent.  We calculate a growth rate based on the increase in number of connections over existing customers of approximately 1.46 percent, which is approximately three times the growth rate that you have used in the calculation.

Our simple question is:  Do you agree that the growth rate should be triple what you have used?

MR. DUMKA:  No, sir, I disagree with you.

The arithmetic appears to be in the right range that you have used, subject to check.

What we're talking about here is if we're looking at this from a load perspective, which is what you're doing effectively, looking at increase in customer count, what we have in 2009 is increased connections, increased customers, but we are not here doing a cost-of-service application where we're re-examining our load forecast.

If we were looking at all of the puts and takes, right now our 2008 rates are based on approved load forecast for 2008.  What I am offering to you, sir, is in fact what is happening through in 2009, is, overall -- in terms of our distribution foot stamp, there is an overall decrease in load.

What I'm suggesting to you is, yes, there are some identified pockets where we've got increased customer connections, but, overall, in 2009 there is a decrease in load.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there something in the evidence or the application that shows that analysis?

MR. DUMKA:  No, sir.  No, sir.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So all you have is the naked - "naked" in quotes - growth rate that appears in the table?

MR. DUMKA:  That growth rate is as per defined by the Board methodology, the 0.48 percent; that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

I would like you to turn up Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 2.

This is an interrogatory response about customer impacts, and I think Mr. Thompson referred to this exhibit when asking about impacts on the first day.

In part B of the interrogatory, you were asked to redo the bill impact calculations you provide in the application using, for 2008, the bills customers receive -- receiving such rebates actually paid in that year -- sorry, the bill impact for customers who got rebates in the first year from their rebated, I guess, point to the 2009 proposed rates.

Would you agree that the response represents the bill impact that those customers will actually see?

DR. PORAY:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And if we go into the table -- I didn't ask the question.

Well, we're talking about rebates.  That relates to the 2008 rate application where people could receive rebates as a mitigation measure for impacts that were the higher of 15 percent or three dollars per month?

DR. PORAY:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So looking at these revised bill impacts provided in B -- and there are a lot of them, and they're very small, but there are cases, I think you will agree, where there are customers that will see impacts that are considerably more than 15 percent and more than three dollars?

DR. PORAY:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can give an example from Fenelon Falls.  The whole thing won't fit on the screen, but the dollar value per month is $16.39, and the percentage increase is 20.1 percent?

DR. PORAY:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in 2008 - and this goes back to the first part of the interrogatory response - you confirm that there were 1,700 residential customers that received credits.

DR. PORAY:  That's how we responded, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that how many people received rebates as part of the mitigation proposal in 2008?

DR. PORAY:  I would assume that to be the case.  I don't know exactly.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm sorry, is that because this isn't your -- you, personally -- this isn't your personal interrogatory response?  Is that why you are hesitant to confirm that or...

DR. PORAY:  No, no, no, no.  The information that we have would suggest that that is the case.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Are you able to tell me how many people would qualify for a similar rebate based on the same criteria for 2009, so that if you were putting in a bill impact mitigation proposal of 15 percent, and -- or, sorry, the greater of 15 percent or three dollars per month, how many people would qualify for 2009?

DR. PORAY:  We haven't done that calculation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Had you thought about doing such a mitigation?

DR. PORAY:  For 2009, we didn't provide that.  We didn't do the calculation.  We did the calculations on the basis of the average consumption for customers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I understand how you did the calculation, but are you basically telling me that mitigation for 2009 wasn't a consideration?

DR. PORAY:  No, we didn't consider the additional mitigation that we did in 2008.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Why not?

DR. PORAY:  Our proposal was to follow the Board guidelines in terms of calculating bill impacts, which is on the average bill of consumers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yet in 2008, you had a very specific mitigation proposal?

DR. PORAY:  We did a specific proposal just for 2008.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am just trying to figure out what the difference is between 2008 and 2009 such that you wouldn't consider the same in 2009.

DR. PORAY:  Well, if the Board were to feel that we should consider a similar proposal in 2009, then we would consider that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

I have one last area of questioning.  If you could turn up B2, tab 1, schedule 3, appendix B, page 4, and I will put it up on the screen.

Basically, it's the smart meter revenue requirement calculation for 2009.  I will pull it up on the screen, so I don't think anybody has to turn it up.

What I am pointing out here is -- well, this is essentially -- we look at this as a mini cost-of-service for smart meters.  Basically, you are calculating the revenue requirement impact of the smart meter program for 2009; is that correct?

MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in this calculation, you are using the 2008 OEB cost of capital rates for ROE and short-term debt, for example, 8.57 percent and 4.47 percent?

MR. DUMKA:  That's correct, consistent with our base year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain why the 2009 cost of capital values were not used?

MR. DUMKA:  What you have here is consistent with our last approved rebasing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that, but we're talking about 2009 smart meter rates, and I am wondering why you wouldn't use 2009 cost of capital amounts.

MR. DUMKA:  Well, my understanding is that we had an approved ROE in our last rebasing, and that's what we're supposed to be using going forward until we rebase again.

If I am -- if we are incorrect, I assume the Board will, in its decision, provide us the appropriate direction.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Is there -- are you aware of any specific direction to use -- sorry.

Is there any specific direction that says that the 2009 rates shouldn't be used for determining 2009 smart --

MR. DUMKA:  I am not aware of anything that says that it should be used.

My understanding is we had cost of capital approved as part of our rebasing in 2008 and until we have a new ROE set, this lines up with our approved cost of capital. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am assuming -- well, I think it is self-evident when you prepared this evidence, this was back in either November or January, this particular --

MR. DUMKA:  Either December or January.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which would be before the new rates came out?


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you, those are my questions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.


I have AMPCO next.  Mr. Crocker, are you ready to proceed?


MR. CROCKER:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  If you could take us to about 12 o'clock because the panel has some other engagements.


MR. CROCKER:  I expect I might be finished by then.


MR. VLAHOS:  Oh, okay.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:

MR. CROCKER:  There are only two areas that I want to cover that haven't been completely covered by my colleagues and then I have one just informational question in isolation beyond that.


I want to talk about the smart grid program, first of all.  I am not sure to whom I am directing these questions but I am sure there won't be -- you won't be shy in terms of responding.


You've budgeted 6.8 -- or Hydro One has budgeted $6.8 million to be spent on that program in 2009.


MR. JUHN:  That is correct.


MR. CROCKER:  You are aware, are you not, Mr. Juhn, that the Green Energy Act Bill 150 talks about a smart grid program?


MR. JUHN:  I haven't read the energy act myself, but I would think that it would be part of that document.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  It talks about a singular program, not a multiplicity of smart grid programs.  And it also, I suggest to you - and disagree with me if you think I am wrong, I don't think I am - that the Ontario Energy Board is given a certain amount of responsibility to implement the smart grid program.  Do you have any understanding with respect to that issue?


MR. JUHN:  Currently, for distribution, we do not have that direction.


MR. CROCKER:  All right.  My understanding is that the Green Energy Act and it is not legislation yet, there may be changes.  It is going through a clause-by-clause analysis at the moment, but the Green Energy Act gives the Ontario Energy Board a certain amount of responsibility with respect to the implementation of that program.  Not limited.  It may be the OEB may have responsibility for implementing technical standards.


My question is this:  Do you not think, in light of the Green Energy Act, it is premature at this point to allocate $6.8 million to a program which is clearly, I suggest to you, going to be changing?  Changing from what you understand it, at the time that you made this application?


MR. JUHN:  I will provide you with a couple of comments.  And I haven't been directly involved in discussions, but we do have individuals in our company that are well aware of the issues, that are in contact with the OPA and the IESO on this, and my understanding is that, directionally, we are on the right track.


And in terms of when the legislation comes into effect, yes, currently that is not built into this plan.


MR. CROCKER:  But if we assume -- as I say -- that that if the Green Energy Act is implemented as it stands now with respect to this issue, that the Board is going to have to review elements of what a smart grid program is going to be and you may not be in a position to spend the $6.8 million that you plan to spend.


MR. ENGELBERG:  I don't really think it’s fair to have these witnesses speculate on what the Green Energy Act might do, if it is enacted as it is now, or if it's changed.  They're really in no position to do that.


MR. JUHN:  I can comment, though, on one element of the need, and that is that we are faced with a current situation where we are -- generators are connecting to our system and we do have to respond to that need and to that situation.  And this is the program that's going to do that.


So there is -- that is the initial need and that's what's driving this.


MR. CROCKER:  In any event, I'm not wrong in suggesting that you couldn't have taken the Green Energy Act into consideration when this proposal was made and you are marching ahead with this -- with your program despite what the Green Energy Act may require and that's why the $6.8 million is there.


[Witness panel confer]

MR. JUHN:  Mr. Crocker, I can only repeat some of the words that I've already said and that we believe this to be prudent.  We believe it to be responsive to the needs of our customers and our assets, and we believe that we will be in line with the Green Energy Act at the time that it is enacted.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I would like to move -- the other area that I would like to canvass that I don't think has been fully canvassed, or from a slightly different perspective from my colleagues, has to do with connections and upgrades.


You have indicated in Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 5, and you referred to it several times already this morning, the actual cost of connections and upgrades in 2008 was $101.8 million.  This is at --

MR. JUHN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. CROCKER:  We're dealing with schedule 5, page 2 of 3.  And that you have budgeted $110.1 million for that in 2009?


MR. JUHN:  That is correct.


MR. CROCKER:  All right.  You have, in Exhibit B1, tab 3, schedule 4, you have housing starts in 2009 of 70,300.


DR. PORAY:  Excuse me, what's the reference again, please?


MR. CROCKER:  I'm not sure my reference is exactly correct.  Let me see if I can find it.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I believe you are referring, sir, to Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 8.  Is that what you're referring to?


MR. CROCKER:  Yes, I'm sorry.  It is not -- yes.  It is not 8-5.  It is 5-8.  Thank you.


MR. JUHN:  Yes, I have it.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You have housing starts at 68,000 in 2008, and 70,300; that's your estimate for 2009?


MR. JUHN:  Yes.


MR. CROCKER:  Do you not think, in light of the circumstances in which -- economic circumstances in which we find ourselves, that that's optimistic?


DR. PORAY:  We have to remember that these forecasts were done as part of the earlier forecasts performed by the company.  So it is likely that the forecast now is probably lower than that.  But under the third generation IRM model, there is no mechanism for adjusting the load forecast.  We will be dealing with that when we return with the cost-of-service application.


MR. CROCKER:  However --

DR. PORAY:  Also as we explained in that interrogatory, there is a lag between the actual investment -- or rather between the response in relation to the change in business conditions and the investment that takes place.

MR. CROCKER:  Let me deal with the lag first then I will go back to your previous comment.


If there is a lag, as you suggest -- and I understand what you are suggesting in terms of that lag, and if you look forward, then, if you project forward, that lag would suggest to you, would it not, that there would be a significant reduction in the projections for 2009, because --

DR. PORAY:  Excuse me for a moment.

[Witness panel confer]

DR. PORAY:  Perhaps a little bit of clarification on the housing starts and the lag that we were talking about.

The figures that we've indicated in here essentially reflect the situation where the developers would have gone ahead and built the houses, and we would, in fact -- we would now be starting to connect those houses in 2009.  That's the lag that we were talking about.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand.  I am suggesting, though, therefore, if the current economic situation is projected and the lag then is projected -- the next lag is projected, there is -- there should be a significant -- there is a significant overestimate here, because the amount -- the number of starts would be significantly lower because of the current economic situation for the period you are looking at forecasting for.

[Witness panel confer]

DR. PORAY:  I think what you are in fact referring to would be reflected in 2010 and not in 2009.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, I think that is -- I don't think I agree with that.  I think that the lag dropped off much more quickly.  However, we can probably debate that forever.

With respect to your previous point, if the third generation IRM doesn't allow for revisions to the estimates, as you've suggested -- the budgeting, as you've suggested, am I wrong in suggesting that the Board is left with an unrealistic situation?  You agreed with me that it was unrealistic.

DR. PORAY:  No, I don't think I agreed with you that it was unrealistic.

This was based on the best information that we had available to us, and this is -- in fact, the work will go ahead.


MR. CROCKER:  I'm not suggesting it was unrealistic when the budgeting was done, when the forecasting was done.  What I'm suggesting is it is unrealistic now, and you agreed with that.

DR. PORAY:  But the work is going on to connect the houses that have been built.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand what you're saying.  I just have one question for clarification.  If I could ask you to look at Exhibit J1.1, the response to the undertaking of yesterday?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that.

MR. CROCKER:  Could you provide me with a definition, or an undertaking to provide me with a technical definition of what minimum level is as you have used it in J1.1?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think I've gone on record several times with providing a definition.  I am happy to do so verbally here, again, if that would be helpful.

MR. CROCKER:  Go ahead, please.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  All right.  The minimum level of work which is indicated on this table is a risk-based concept.  As part of our risk-based planning process, we define various levels of work, i.e., levels of expenditures on various programs.

So if you think of each one of these areas in the sustaining, development area as programs -- and the example I will use is strategic spare transformers.  Within that area of work, we plan various levels of work where the increased expenditure, as you go up in levels, decreases the residual risk that the company faces, and we define that risk across the various set of business values.  These are things that are important to the customer, reliability, safety.

With respect to the minimum level, we define the minimum level in this process as being that level of expenditure, such as if the expenditure remained at that level, at the minimum level over a period of approximately five years, Hydro One would find itself in a circumstance where it would be very probable that there would be a very negative consequence or a very negative event that would happen.

As an example, there would be a potential impact to customer reliability, potentially customer safety, something that would be -- we would consider very, very bad.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I have nothing further.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.


Panel, could I just clarify something before the break?  Those questions arise from Mr. Crocker's cross-examination.

When you asked about the customer forecast or the customer numbers from 2008/2009, I believe your answer was that the IRM model does not allow for change or to reflect a different forecast for 2009.  Is this what I heard?

MR. DUMKA:  Sir, yes.  What I was referring to was the load forecast basis.

What I was getting to was the broader economic condition.  We have certain pockets, which Dr. Poray referred to, where we expect new customer connections, houses that were built in 2008 and are now ready for connection.  And that's what we're going through now.  So that's the customer connection forecast.


And what -- I was stepping back and saying, You're right.  We do have -- we've identified specific pockets like that.  Overall, we're expecting a drop in our load right across, and I'm suggesting that if we take the broader picture, the overall impact is negative.

MR. VLAHOS:  I just want to understand what this Panel, the Board Panel, has to deliberate and decide on later on.

First of all, the customer forecast, the customer numbers don't enter the IRM formula, as such, in terms of the growth factor; is that clear?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes.  Absolutely.

MR. VLAHOS:  We can park that?  It has nothing to do with it?

MR. DUMKA:  Absolutely.

MR. VLAHOS:  What it has to do with, the customer forecast, is what underpins your budget on the connections and upgrades?

MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.

MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.

MR. VLAHOS:  And part of your $461 million is connected to the customer additions?

MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.

MR. VLAHOS:  So Mr. Crocker was testing the reasonableness of that forecast; right?

I guess you're saying that -- you still are saying it is a good forecast because of the delay factor?

MR. DUMKA:  That's my understanding.  And I will be honest.  I had to think about it when we had discussions months ago, in terms of the ins and outs, and my understanding is a developer purchases a chunk of land somewhere in -- you know, in our footprint.

Let's say they have purchased the land at the end of 2007.  They get the assorted permits, and they start clearing the land and preparing it and start putting houses up.

So there is a lag from when they start in on the new house construction and when it comes ready for market and we are connecting those customers.

So there is a lag, and everybody here is familiar that the drop in our economy was recognized in the last quarter of 2008. So that lag is out of sync.  Those houses were already being built or near completion and are being completed in 2009, and we will be making those connections.

Further to what Dr. Poray was discussing with Mr. Crocker, we're expecting a drop in new -- let's call it new developments as opposed to old developments, which will start in the earlier part of 2008.  So the lag impact of that will be on 2010.

We would expect that in 2010 there would be a drop-off in the connections being made.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you for that answer.  Is there anywhere in the evidence any sensitivity as to the change in forecast, customer numbers, and the change in your budget for connections and upgrades for 2008?


[Witness panel confer]

MR. DUMKA:  Sir, I am advised no, there is no such sensitivity analysis provided.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Is this a good time to take a break, Mr. Engelberg?


MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  I did want to mention that a couple of intervenors asked me about the process for returning Hydro One's confidential documents, provided yesterday, pursuant to the Board's confidentiality procedure.  I discussed it with Mr. Millar.  So what I'm suggesting is that I put a list for people to sign over on the exhibits counter over there, and intervenors can return the documents and sign stating that they have returned them, if that is acceptable.


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, that is fine.  I'm not sure that -- we will leave that to the parties.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  You're not asking for a ruling.


Anything else before we break for lunch?  The lunch break has to be a little longer because some the Members of the Panel have to attend some other Board business, so it will be I guess an hour and a half.  And we will come back with Mr. Lokan from -- I'm sorry, Mr. MacIntosh first.  How long would you be, sir, can you estimate?


MR. MACINTOSH:  Probably not more than 15 minutes, Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, thank you, then Mr. Lokan?


MR. LOKAN:  If I can just ask.  I have a 2 o'clock conference call so if it would be possible for me to go before Mr. MacIntosh, I also anticipates about 15 minutes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. MacIntosh, that is okay?


MR. MACINTOSH:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Fifteen minutes you say.

MR. LOKAN:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  I guess Pollution Probe is not here.  Staff?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, probably not more than ten minutes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Ten minutes.


Okay, then with that, we will return in an hour and a half.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:05 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:35 p.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.

Okay.  Any preliminary matters before we turn it over to Mr. Lokan, I guess?

Mr. Engelberg?  No matters?  Mr. Miller?
Procedural Matters:

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, we have set or largely set a schedule for the filing of argument, which -- I think there may be one residual issue, but I can advise the Panel that I think it is agreed that intervenors will file their argument on April 8th, and then the company will file its reply a week later on the 15th.

I understand Mr. Shepherd may have an additional submission.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Mr. Chairman, one of the parties in this proceeding will be supporting the application, and the other intervenors will probably not be supporting the application.  The party that is supporting is PWU, and what we're concerned with is that we will not have an opportunity to reply to any arguments in support of the application that they make, and we would ask that the Board consider having PWU provide their argument on the 6th rather than the 8th, so that if there is anything additional in their material that is not in the Hydro One material, we would have a chance to answer it.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Lokan.

MR. LOKAN:  I didn't realize it was a simple matter of pro and con, the application.  I think all the intervenors have their own unique perspectives and independent perspectives, and, as far as I understand, it has never been done in that way.


Having said that, I am in the Board's hands.

[Board Panel confer]

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Lokan, you don't appear to object, not strenuously, anyway.  I guess we are driven by an interest of having good information on the record, a complete record.  So in that regard, you may want to file yours the 6th.

Now, I don't know whether the Society is also planning to file argument or not, but to the extent that they are in full support of the application, then they will have to go with the same date.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Miller, perhaps someone can advise them of that?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Somebody had their hand up?  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I was just going to add the Society, but you pre-empted me.

MR. VLAHOS:  There being nothing else, Mr. Lokan.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Lokan:

MR. LOKAN:  Thank you.  Members of the panel, this is not directed at anyone in particular, so feel free to answer as you see fit.

I am going to ask some questions about the general approach to the incremental capital module, and I would like to first start with what I understand to be Hydro One's general approach to when it should apply.

If I could ask you to turn to the interrogatory responses?  That's Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 2.

DR. PORAY:  Yes, we have that.

MR. LOKAN:  I would just ask you to look, under the response, the second paragraph at the first sentence, which is:
"Hydro One has understood throughout the evolution of the third generation IRM model process that the activation of the capital module was designed to take care of a funding gap which arises when a utility's rate base changes at a faster rate than its depreciation expense."

And with that in mind, I would like to take you to one other reference, which is the next schedule, schedule 3.

You were asked --

DR. PORAY:  I have that.

MR. LOKAN:  -- in question 1 by Board Staff to:
"Please explain how your request in this application is consistent with the Board's statement that the capital module is intended to be reserved for unusual circumstances."

And the response, looking over the page, again, is that it's to address the significant increase in rate base that's not covered by the price cap mechanism, and the next paragraph there's a reference to a funding gap, and then the third paragraph, this is the final thing I want you to look at:
"Perhaps a more appropriate way to view this issue of capital treatment under 3GIRM is to recognize the fact that Hydro One and possibly other electricity distributors are operating in an environment where future capital expenditures are trending considerably higher than historical capital expenditures."

I take it, then, that Hydro One's position is that the raison d'être of the ICM is to address that funding gap that occurs when capital expenditures outstrip depreciation?

DR. PORAY:  That is correct.

MR. LOKAN:  And that that is what you would characterize as the unusual circumstances?

DR. PORAY:  That is correct, because, in essence, the net effect of the capital expenditures outstripping depreciation is because of the work that has to be done as a result of the combination of circumstances that the company finds itself in.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  Could I ask you to look at the July 14th decision report of the Board, which has been marked at K1.13?

DR. PORAY:  Yes, I have that.

MR. LOKAN:  I am going to ask you to look at the bottom of page 24, going on to page 25.

DR. PORAY:  Yes, I have that.

MR. LOKAN:  Now, I understand that there was a discussion paper that was authored by a Dr. Kaufmann, and I just want to ask for your comment on the description here, starting with the second sentence:
"The approach would allow for the intra-term approval by the Board and appropriate pass-through of incremental capital expenditures associated with growing capital program demands.  Dr. Kaufmann advised in his May 6th presentation to participants that implicit in an X factor is a historical pattern of capital expenditures for the industry and that generally a separate capital module should not be required under a comprehensive rate indexing plan.  However, he commented that if, going forward, projected capital investment is substantially different than the history of what is reflected in the X factor, then there could be an issue and a capital module could be designed to address the disparity."

Do you see those comments as consistent with the approach that you have set out in the interrogatory response?

DR. PORAY:  Yes.

MR. LOKAN:  That is to say, when you have a growing set of capital expenditure demands that outstrip depreciation, it is not fully captured in the X factor, and that's when you would want to apply?

DR. PORAY:  Well, in essence, what we're saying is that the historical growth in capital is not representative of future growth in capital.

MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  I would ask you to look at the exhibit which I sent around by e-mail and have handed out, which is a table that was prepared by the PWU.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I have that here.  We will give it an exhibit number, K2.1.
Exhibit No. K2.1:  Table prepared by PWU, Hydro One Distribution total capital expenditure.

MR. MILLAR:  This is the Hydro One Distribution total capital expenditure exhibit from the PWU.  I have copies for the Panel.

MR. LOKAN:  Now, you have had a chance to review this document in advance of this afternoon?

DR. PORAY:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Did everyone get a copy, Mr. Lokan?

MR. LOKAN:  I have additional copies here.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I mean beforehand.


MR. LOKAN:  Yes.

Now, just looking at the numbers here, I understand that there is one number, in particular, that might need a bit of a qualification.

If you look at total capital expenditure for 2007, see the number 476.6 million?


DR. PORAY:  Yes.


MR. LOKAN:  I understand that smart meters were included in that number for 2007, but not included in the two numbers below for 2008/2009; is that correct?


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MR. LOKAN:  But leaving that aside, would you agree with me that what this historical account shows is basically a situation where the capital expenditure is growing faster than depreciation over a several year period?


DR. PORAY:  Yes.  Generally I would agree with that.


MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  We have that graphically represented on the chart on the next page.  Except that the 2007 number, the point on the graph is in the wrong place.


DR. PORAY:  Well, it includes components that are not included in 2008 and 2009.


MR. LOKAN:  Right.  Okay.


Again, can you relate this pattern to the comments of Dr. Kaufmann and the responses to the interrogatories?

DR. PORAY:  Yes.  We understand or we believe certainly that the capital expenditures over the period that are indicated here are consistent with what we've always termed as unusual circumstances, in terms of what utilities are faced with and certainly Hydro One.


And I think this illustrates the point that we were making in the response to the Board Staff interrogatories.


MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  Now, I want to just focus for a minute on the contrary view, and it's really just to try and understand the on-the-ground consequences in terms of this application in the context of this application.


If the Board were to take a different view of how the ICM works, as has been suggested by some intervenors, I'm just wondering about the consequences and I'm going to ask that in a particular way.


I've heard some discussion in questions about new programs. If you were to say that existing or continuing programs don't meet the test, what would the consequences of that be?


DR. PORAY:  I'm sorry, can you just elaborate a little bit?


MR. LOKAN:  Sure.  I think what we're going to hear in argument is some suggestion that circumstances have to be exceptional or we must be dealing with new programs or some other limiting factors before capital spending can qualify for the ICM treatment.


I think the panel has told us previously that you're going ahead with this spending anyway, even if the ICM is not allowed on this application; is that correct?


DR. PORAY:  Well, we would certainly consider doing the work, because this work needs to be done.


MR. LOKAN:  Right.  Let's just imagine for a minute that you didn't go ahead with the work that was not supported by rate treatment.  What would the consequences of that be?


DR. PORAY:  Well, the consequences would be that our sustainment of the aging assets and end-of-life assets would not proceed as it should be proceeding.  The connection of distributed generation would be delayed.  So perhaps that would be some of the bigger impacts.


MR. LOKAN:  Is it fair to say that you would be in a world where you would have to try and organize spending so that there were big lumps in cost-of-service years and then smaller capital spending in in-between years?


DR. PORAY:  If the capital adjustment module doesn't work as we believe it works and how we have interpreted it to work in accordance with the guidelines, then, yes, that would be a reasonable expectation.


MR. LOKAN:  I take it you would agree with me that that doesn't make any sense from a planning point of view, in that you are frequently dealing with multi-year projects?


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.  And it is certainly contrary to the way we've been doing planning and carrying out of work at Hydro One.


MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  I just want to perhaps ask you about a couple of specific examples of what I would characterize as continuing programs that are not at all exceptional.  They're just part of what you need to do in your capital expenditure business.


Could I ask you to turn to Exhibit B1, tab 3, schedule 3.  I'm going to refer you to page 16.


DR. PORAY:  Okay, we're there.


MR. LOKAN:  Now, I take it that wood pole replacement is something that you need to spend capital money on each and every year.


DR. PORAY:  I think we will get Mr. Juhn to answer that.


MR. JUHN:  Yes, we do.


MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  And you've commented at the bottom of page 16 of the application that if you were in a world of reduced funding for pole replacement, there would be increased reliability and safety risks, you'd be prevented from meeting due diligence obligations and present a hazard to workers and the public; is that correct?


MR. JUHN:  Yes, it is.


MR. LOKAN:  So that would be an example of, if you were -- if the rate design world through the 3GIRM were such that this was unsupported spending and the response was not to spend, you would have those additional risks?


MR. JUHN:  Yes, we would.  In addition to some of the planning risks that you identified from year over year.


MR. LOKAN:  In this context, you commented a little earlier -- before the break -- about the minimum spend concept.


And the minimum spend sounded like a threshold where, within a five-year period you would see there being a probability of an adverse event occurring; is that correct?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. LOKAN:  But even short of that, that is spending above minimum, is it fair to say that it would be -- you've identified it as being more cost-effective overall and better at addressing these risks if you are able to spend the full amount claimed?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. LOKAN:  Okay.


I just want to ask a similar question about transformers.  If you go in the same schedule to page 7.


MR. JUHN:  Yes.


MR. LOKAN:  Again, I take it strategic spare transformers is a fairly ordinary course multi-year program?


MR. JUHN:  Yes, it is.


MR. LOKAN:  And if you were required to have funding reductions there, you've identified that there would be potential adverse impact on reliability at certain stations?


MR. JUHN:  Yes, there would be.


MR. LOKAN:  Okay.


With transport, if you look at page 9 -- I'm sorry.  That would be schedule 6, page 9.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have that.


MR. LOKAN:  Again, this is something which is not an exceptional program and it's continuing over many years.  Is that fair to say?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just to be clear we're looking at the same thing.  I'm looking at page 9 of 11 of Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 60, the capital expenditures for the transfer of the work equipment?


MR. LOKAN:  Yes.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's a correct statement.  If we did not make these expenditures, it would adversely affect our ability to get the plant work done.

MR. LOKAN:  Right.  You've identified, at the bottom of the page, three benefits.  I take it the flip side is you wouldn't have those benefits and you would have risks around safety, productivity and utilization.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  We would have increased risks, yes, that's correct.


MR. LOKAN:  All right.


And even to take connections and upgrades, I think from the numbers we heard this morning, that for the 2009 connections and upgrades, the total amount is $110 million, about?


MR. JUHN:  Yes, it is.


MR. LOKAN:  So that's actually 20 percent of the capital expenditure budget of $460 million.


MR. JUHN:  Approximately.


MR. LOKAN:  Approximately.  Again, connections and upgrades are something that you have to do each and every year; is that correct?

MR. JUHN:  Yes it is.

MR. LOKAN:  It is even legislatively required because of section 28?


MR. JUHN:  That is correct.


MR. LOKAN:  Okay.  And there is a reference in the materials to how you have certain service quality standards, so part of it is living up to the standards that the customers expect; is that fair?


MR. JUHN:  Yes, there are some service quality standards in the Distribution System Code.

MR. LOKAN:  Right.  So would it make sense to exclude, from your point of view, any of these programs from the types of capital expenditures that are eligible for the ICM treatment?

MR. JUHN:  A number of programs, and some of them you mentioned - and new customer connections being one of them - we really don't have any option.  Those we have to do.  So they're demand projects.

There are some projects where there is an opportunity or where there is a potential for some reductions, but, again, it would create significant issues for the company if we were to reduce the pole replacement, for example.

MR. LOKAN:  And isn't it the case that where you do reduce spending within a given period by deferring work, you haven't eliminated the need to do the work?  You have just shifted it to a different period?

MR. JUHN:  That is correct.

MR. LOKAN:  And you haven't necessarily saved any money for the ratepayers, because it may well be more expensive later; is that fair?

MR. JUHN:  It may be, yes.

MR. LOKAN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Lokan.

Mr. MacIntosh.
Cross-Examination by Mr. MacIntosh:


MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe.

Panel, I'm going to put to you questions in respect of the Cornerstone project and its expected outcomes for Hydro One and for ratepayers.

If you would pull up one of the Energy Probe interrogatories, Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 3?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.

MR. MACINTOSH:  I will also refer to an interrogatory asked by the Consumers Council of Canada, but I don't think you will need to access it.  But it is Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 10.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that, sir.

MR. MACINTOSH:  I only draw your attention to that because, in your response (a) to that interrogatory, Hydro One has indicated that expenditures on the Cornerstone project would be $105 million for 2009 and, by the end of 2010, $352 million.

So I draw your attention, then, to the Energy Probe interrogatory that I previously noted.  The piece of the Cornerstone project that Energy Probe is concerned with is the project costing module.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. MACINTOSH:  And you are familiar with that module?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. MACINTOSH:  And the response by Hydro One to this interrogatory.


As background to my questions, I note that Energy Probe has expressed interest in this module, the project costing module, for several years through a number of Hydro One distribution and transmission proceedings.

And as part of that interest, a question in respect of the ability of the Cornerstone project was put to a witness panel number 3 at the EB-2006-0501 Hydro One Transmission proceeding, specifically to Mr. Struthers, who I now understand has become the CFO of Hydro One.

And he was asked if within the Cornerstone project there was an application that would enable Hydro One to break out its capital project estimates and forecasts in categories such as cost of materials and cost of labour.

As you will see in the interrogatory preamble, Mr. Struthers stated that the project costing module would do that as part of phase 3.

Now, in the interrogatory, part (a) asks, and I quote:
"Is the project costing module that will enable the company to break out its capital project estimates and forecasts in categories, such as cost of materials and costs of labour, still part of the Cornerstone project?"

Now, panel, here is where my problem lies.  The response to part (a) states "Yes" as its first word, but the other words in response tell a different story.  And now I am going to ask this panel some questions to assist in clarifying whether we have a "yes" or "no".

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I should be able to help you with that, sir.

MR. MACINTOSH:  As clarification, do you confirm that the project costing module is still part of phase 3?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think therein lies the problem with the interpretation of the question and the response.

The project costing module, as we define project costing, is actually part of the phase 2 -- is part of phase 2 of the project.  So I think when we answered this, we were responding in the context of the phase 1 and phase 2.  So the project costing module deals with capturing of costs in an actual sense.

However, though, to go back to the question put to Mr. Struthers and our response as part of phase 3, there will be analytics, tools and other budgeting and business planning tools, that we're looking at, and it is our full anticipation that those would give us the ability, on a forecast basis, to break out labours and materials, as Mr. Struthers said and as you have implied by your question.


I apologize for the misunderstanding of our response.

MR. MACINTOSH:  Well, I am certainly glad that you don't have to say that Mr. Struthers had it wrong.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No.  I suspect, given he's my boss, he wouldn't have appreciated that, either.

MR. MACINTOSH:  So, in actuality, Mr. Chair, I don't need to ask the other questions that I had composed.  That completes my questions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.

Mr. Millar.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Panel.


Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  I am also going to be asking you just a few questions about the Cornerstone project, but from a slightly different tack than Mr. MacIntosh.

Could I ask you to turn up Exhibit B1, tab 3, schedule 6, page 5?  This is, in fact, where you describe the Cornerstone project.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  And I just want to read on to the record what the Cornerstone project is for, to make sure I understand, and I am just going to read straight from your evidence.

It says:
"The Cornerstone project is a part of the overall information technology strategy to replace several of Hydro One Networks' key enterprise information systems as they reach their end of life.  The Cornerstone project is also a major business process transformation initiative that provides a platform for further effectiveness and efficiency gains at Hydro One Networks."

Do you see that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it you agree with that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand that Cornerstone is a multi-year project; is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Multi-year, multi-phase, yes, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  And the costs for the program are, in fact, split between transmission and distribution?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, they are.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And all in all, if I can describe it this way, it's an efficiency program that will allow you to save money?  That's one of its purposes, anyways?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It's one of its purposes.  It is, one, end of life replacement of technology that is no longer supported by the vendor, and it is also something where we're looking to make some business transformation gains to gain some efficiency, yes, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  In fact, your project savings accruing from the implementation of Cornerstone over the years?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we do.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If I could ask you to flip to the next page?  That's Exhibit B1, tab 3, schedule 6, page 6.

With this capital module, you're seeking additional funding for Cornerstone; is that correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we are.

MR. MILLAR:  And for the 2008 base rates year, the costs -- I guess the allowed costs were 28 million; is that right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm looking at table 4.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then for the test year, 2009, that’s this application, you are seeking $41.8 million?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, we are.

MR. MILLAR:  That's nearly a $14 million increase, if my math is correct.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You will recall I'm certain -- I provided copies to my friend over the lunch break but this is -- I provided him with an excerpt from the decision in the 2008 cost-of-service distribution rates case.  Are you familiar with this decision?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes I am.

MR. MILLAR:  You've seen it before.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes I have.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm going to read from it, and I have some copies here which I propose to call Exhibit K2.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  DECISION FROM EB-2007-0681 COST-OF-SERVICE DISTRIBUTION RATES CASE

MR. MILLAR:  I have copies for the panel, some additional copies as well, if anyone wants them, but I don't think there's any surprises in there.


Did you participate in this rates case, Mr. Van Dusen?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I did.


MR. MILLAR:  So I take it you are quite familiar with this?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am.

MR. MILLAR:  You will recall that one of the concerns raised by ratepayer groups and intervenor groups was that they were concerned that through the IR program, the spending for the Cornerstone program would be locked in; however, the savings that accrue during the year of the IRM, IRM regime, would not be passed on to ratepayers until rebasing.  You're familiar with that, that that was their concern.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I do understand that concern that was raised, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  The Board addressed that and I would like to read into the record what the Board said.  I am starting at page 15, and for the benefit of anyone reading the transcript this is from EB-2007-0681, it is the decision with reasons.


It's not very long so I am going to read most of it. It says:

"Concerns of the Intervenors focussed on the expenditures associated with the Cornerstone project, which is a comprehensive reconstruction of the Company's information technology capability.  In fact, the intervenors’ concerns lies not so much with the expenditures associated with the Cornerstone project which have been considered in previous cases and approved, but rather with the treatment of the savings associated with the implementation of the Cornerstone project in the coming years.  Hydro One has forecast that the implementation of the Cornerstone project will result in approximately $200 million worth of savings..."


I'm skipping small parts:

"It is integral to the Company's proposal that there be no recognition for 2008 rates, and accordingly no recognition within the third-generation Incentive Rate Mechanism period of these savings.


Then if you skip over to the next page, page 16, you will see Board findings.  And it states:
"The Cornerstone project has been developed over a number of years and it is an accident of timing that the third generation IRM will operate to insulate some of the savings associated with the project.  As a result, the company will have a period where it alone enjoys the benefits of efficiencies resulting from the Cornerstone project.  This, however, is how incentive rate mechanisms operate.  It would be inappropriate and contrary to regulatory principle for the Board to intervene in a situation such as this to deny the company this benefit prior to the next rebasing.  The Board therefore will make no adjustments..."


I take it you've read that before?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  And although, just to clarify something.  I understand it's Hydro One's intention to file for cost-of-service starting next year, I believe, a two-year cost-of-service application.


But I also heard yesterday that in Mr. Thompson's cross-examination of the panel, that it is, in fact, possible, you will stick with IRM.  The current plan is to file a cost-of-service, but you still may come back under IRM; did I hear that correctly?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Okay.  So you are seeking an additional $14 million over 2008.


I understand that, I am going back to Exhibit B1, tab 3, schedule 6 now, the table 4 we were just looking at.  If you look at that, I see a savings number which appears to be an offset against the total capital expense.  I understand that offset is to account for savings that will occur in 2009 on the capital side.  Is that right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.  And if I can go a little bit further.  I think this morning when there was a discussion on Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 7, and I was asked what the line -- I think this was Mr. Buonaguro, I was asked in the line that the incremental capital amount requested in this application does not reflect the full capital expenditures, I have to apologize to the author of this.  It was me who was confused not the author.  I think what was being referred to there was the fact that the gross capital expenditures were the 44.8, and we indeed are accounting for the savings in this application and what is included in the capital module, the entire -- is the 41.8 million which is part of the $460.8.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  So --

MR. MILLAR:  You have netted out $3 million in savings.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we have, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now am I right that there are $3 million in capital savings for 2009, but there is also $4 million in O&M savings?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  My reference for that is CCC Interrogatory No. 10, I believe, Exhibit I, tab 3, schedule 10.  I don't think you need to pull it up.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You're not proposing to account for that $4 million, are you?  You're not proposing to share that with ratepayers?


MR. DUMKA:  My understanding is the OM&A savings are part of the price cap index calculation.  You're aware there is a productivity factor there.


This $4 million is being recognized there.  We are achieving some of those savings through Cornerstone.


MR. MILLAR:  My understanding of IRM is the cost savings during the course of the plan is any efficiencies you realize you keep for yourself.  That's one of the points of IRM.  Have I got that wrong?


MR. DUMKA:  I'm agreeing with you, sir.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. DUMKA:  What I am just outlining is that's where the Cornerstone savings are captured.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry.  I misunderstood, okay.  Now, however, you're not sticking with your 2008 base rates on Cornerstone, are you?  You have something like a 35 percent proposed increase in spending for Cornerstone as part of this capital module.  Is that correct?


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.  And as Mr. Van Dusen could explain further, that's for phase 2 of Cornerstone.


The savings are related to phase 1, which went into service in 2008 and my understanding of how the savings are estimated, 2009, is the first year where we see them.


MR. MILLAR:  Just to make sure I've got you clear.  Are you saying that none of this incremental spending within the incremental capital module gives rise to any of that $4 million in savings?


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  That savings would all be there irrespective of this spending?


MR. DUMKA:  What we have in terms of phase 2, yes, is a new segment of the Cornerstone initiative.  So those savings aren't tied into that.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So this number would have been the same even if you were not applying for a capital module this year?


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Just one more series of questions on this.


I want to get your views on how this increased spending for Cornerstone fits in under an IRM framework.


You would agree with me - in fact I think you have agreed with me - that one of the purposes of IRM is to encourage utilities to find efficiencies; is that fair?  What I mean by that is your revenues are more or less set through the IRM formula, and you are free to over-earn if you are able to find ways to spend less money than you were in the base year.  Is that fair enough?


MR. DUMKA:  I think that's a reasonable characterization.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I think you agreed with me earlier one of the purposes of the Cornerstone project is to create efficiencies for the company; is that right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. MILLAR:  So isn't Cornerstone and the efficiencies realized by Cornerstone, isn't that exactly what the IRM is meant to encourage you to do?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  There's no question with the IRM.  I agree with your assumption, that it drives efficiencies.  But Hydro One in and of its own volition also cares very much about productivity and efficiency and went further than just doing a straight ERP replacement and is looking to get additional value and savings out of it.

So the IRM, yes, is contributing to this, but it was also Hydro One, a direct product of Hydro One's values in and our strategy to go after savings.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe there is not a disconnect here but let me try it from a slightly different angle.  What I see is you're asking for additional money above the base amounts that are largely tied to assisting you to find efficiencies, whereas I see it one of the key purposes of IRM is to encourage you to find these efficiencies anyways.


Do you see anything contrary to the spirit of the IRM in seeking additional money to help you find efficiencies?


MR. DUMKA:  Excuse me, if I can.  The driver for Cornerstone is the -- the primary driver is not the efficiencies.  The primary driver is the necessary replacement of systems.  And so we are leveraging what we're doing to get further savings.


So I would suggest the way you are viewing is cart before the horse.  The horse really is -- the primary purpose is we have to replace these systems.  A driver for phase 2, which Mr. Van Dusen can elaborate upon, is we have to have a system in place for the conversion to  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1IFRS.  That is a big driver for a segment of the phase 2 costs.

MR. MILLAR:  I do accept there is more than one reason, of course, you're doing it.

MR. DUMKA:  What I'm getting at is that's the primary reason.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.

Thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Mr. Engelberg, any redirect?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I have no redirect, Mr. Chairman.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  The Board has some questions.  Mr. Quesnelle?
Questions by the Board:


MR. QUESNELLE:  One that just came up earlier.  Actually, it was the exchange with Mr. Lokan and Dr. Poray, and I would just ask you to help me out a little bit.  I just want to drill down on one of your responses.

Mr. Lokan was asking about -- in Hydro One's anticipation of the use of or the purpose of the module, the capital expenditure module, and that it went specifically -- I will just -- I am just refreshing my memory here.  The need for it occurs when there is a funding gap based on the capital expenditures outstripping the depreciation.


You felt that that was the -- what gives rise to your need in the use of the module; is that correct?

DR. PORAY:  That's correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  You went on to say that that was based on, and as a result of, a combination of circumstances that the company finds itself in.

Now, could you elaborate on what it is about the combination of circumstances?  Is there anything unusual about it -- has to be unusual about the circumstance?  What I am just trying to say, is it straight mathematical, or can you further describe the combination of circumstances?

DR. PORAY:  In general, the concern that we have is the work that has to be done in the company in terms of the aging asset base.  So a lot of our assets are reaching the end of life.

So these assets need replacement, and, therefore, there are significant capital expenditures associated with that.

We've got the connection of the distributor generation.  There is quite a significant program response to the renewable energy standard offer program that Hydro One is involved in.  So there is a lot of new generation that is coming on board, and there are implications for the distribution system, as Mr. Juhn outlined, with that.

So in relation to the sort of work that we're doing, it is not unusual work.  It's the unusual circumstances that we find ourselves in that our capital expenditures have been growing over the years, and I pointed out that in fact since 2002 our capital expenditures have increased by 75 percent.

As a result of that, the trending in capital expenditures is outstripping the growth in depreciation, and that's causing a funding gap.  So it's not -- what I'm trying to say, it is not unusual work or unusual costs.  It is the unusual circumstances  in terms of the work that has to be done.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That unusual circumstance, though, has been -- it's not an unexpected circumstance.  It is just an unusual one in the way you are framing it, but it has been in existence at any point in time in that continuum since 2002?

DR. PORAY:  Well, I think the way I would characterize it is we are now on the upswing of a cycle that occurs in a utility's life where you have a combination of factors that is driving out capital expenditures, and there may be a point in time that we will reach where we have reached the maximum, and then we may decline where we're into a more steady-state type environment where we don't need such large capital expenditures.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It's the company's position that the module and the intent of the putting together the capital module was to take care of those periods in time, that actual ascending of that ramp?

DR. PORAY:  That's correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Quesnelle.  Mr. Sommerville.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.  Just on those two points that you mentioned in connection with your response to Mr. Quesnelle.

The first one related to distributed generation connections, but as I look at Exhibit J1.1, your proposal is actually to spend less than the minimum planning amount would get you up to spend in that category; is that right?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.  Our most recent estimate would put us lower than what was in the plan for 2008.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But this is the estimate we're supposed to rely upon; right?  This is the -- we are supposed to take your application as an accurate statement about your capital spending expectation; right?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.  So on that basis, the minimum level reflected on this exhibit would be $6.2 million, and you propose to spend 5.9 in that subject matter?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.  That was an updated estimate that was updated through the planning process.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

MR. JUHN:  The initial was the 6.2 was the minimum.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  That's what your planning process suggested; met that five-year, no-adverse-effect kind of standard, isn't that right?  Did I get that right?

MR. JUHN:  These numbers are specifically for 2009.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

MR. JUHN:  We do not have a good line of sight for the next five years on distributed generation.  So we did -- some projections were made, but this is specifically for -- what we would expect for 2009.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I would expect that you're generating a completely different approach to that particular subject matter for 2010, for example?

MR. JUHN:  With the information we have at hand, yes, there would be a projection for that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In connection with the Green Energy Act?

MR. JUHN:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  And just in terms of -- just so that I understand the situation correctly, from 2002 - and I am looking at Exhibit K2.1, Mr. Lokan's exhibit - it demonstrates that the condition that you are describing with respect to depreciation, from 2002 it has been an abiding condition?

DR. PORAY:  I'm sorry?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It has been an abiding condition that depreciation has not met your capital spending increments?

DR. PORAY:  That's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So that was true in 2002, and in each of the applications that you've brought before the Board from a cost-of-service point of view, or on any other basis?

DR. PORAY:  That's correct.  But the disparity is in fact growing.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes, although not at an alarming rate, particularly, but it is growing.

DR. PORAY:  It is growing.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Sommerville.

This then brings us to the end of the evidentiary portion of the proceeding.  The panel is excused, with our thanks.  We will hear oral argument from the applicant this afternoon after an appropriate break.

Argument by the Power Workers' Union and the Society of Energy Professionals shall be filed by April 6th.  Argument by all other intervenors and Board Staff, if any, shall be filed by April 8th.  Reply argument by the applicant shall be filed by April 15th.

Mr. Engelberg, how much time do you need?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Would it be possible to have till 3:30, Mr. Chair, and I won't be any more than 30 minutes, I would think.  So hopefully we would finish around 4 o'clock.

MR. VLAHOS:  Whatever serves you, sir, that would be fine with us.  So we will resume, then, at 3:30.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:25 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:40 p.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Engelberg.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  As a preliminary matter, I was just discussing with Mr. Millar and some of the other intervenors, Hydro One realized during the break that its date to come back with reply argument was set at seven days after the date for the intervenors to submit their argument, namely that's the 15th of April and we just realized during the break that there's good Friday and Easter Monday in between.  So the 15th --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Bad luck.


[Laughter]


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just kidding.


MR. ENGELBERG:  So the 15th is a Wednesday.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Sommerville is not speaking for the panel.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  So we would like to request that we have two more days until the Friday of that week, April 17th.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Yes, that's fine, Mr. Engelberg.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Should I proceed?


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, please.
Submissions by Mr. Engelberg:

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  This is the first time that a third generation IRM application that includes the capital adjustment module is being examined.


Hydro One understands that there has been some confusion about the use of the capital adjustment module, and some differing views on its use, and Hydro One believes it's helpful to start out by looking at the intent of 3GIRM, including its capital adjustment module and how we got here today.


A major driver for creating 3GIRM was the desire to create an efficient, streamlined process that could be employed by applicant utilities and by the Board in the circumstances described by the Board in its reports dated July 14th and September 17th, 2008, including circumstances in which a utility needs recognition of the cost of capital assets needed for the utility to sustain and grow.


Hydro One submits that the Board's reports do just that:  Create and efficient streamlined process that could be used in the circumstances I just described.


The Board opened this hearing by stating that the Board's guidelines provide for, and I quote:

"A mechanistic and formulaic adjustment to rates between cost-of-service applications, as well as provisions for incremental and capital investments."


Hydro One has, throughout, been a supporter of the Board's desire to proceed with 3GIRM, and Hydro One believes that it has shown its support of the Board's goal by filing this application.  That is why Hydro One is here today.


I submit that it goes without saying that the revenue requirement and rates being requested by Hydro One by using 3GIRM are less than the revenue requirement and rates that would result from a cost-of-service application if, for no reason other than the fact that a cost-of-service application includes OM&A rather than capital items only.


Hydro One is sensitive to the needs and concerns of its customers and is not here out of some mistaken belief that 3GIRM is an inappropriate shortcut that deprives ratepayers and intervenors of the opportunity to scrutinize an application.


The Board's reports and the process set out in those reports make it impossible for an applicant to do that, and I propose to show how that is the case.


In order to avail itself of the process, a utility must, of course, comply with the Board's filing guidelines which appear in appendix B of the Board's supplemental report dated September 17th, 2008, at page VI.  I won't go through the guidelines in detail, but I submit to you that Hydro One, in its written application, and in its oral evidence, has provided the Board with all of the information required, namely:  A, an analysis showing that the materiality threshold test has been met, and that the amounts will have a significant influence on operations, as summarized in Dr. Poray's direct evidence.


B, a description of the causes and timing of the capital expenditures as described in four detailed sections in the evidence on the sustaining, development, operations and shared service capital levels for 2008 and 2009.  And by answering over 200 interrogatory responses and providing information through witnesses during cross-examination.


C, an analysis of the revenue requirement associated with the capital spending and a proposal as to the amount of relief sought, which Hydro One calculated consistent with the Board model as demonstrated in the filing of all the appropriate schedules as shown in Exhibit B1, tab 1, schedule 2.


D, justification that amounts being sought are directly related to the claimed cause, which must be non-discretionary and outside the base on which current rates were derived, as shown by Hydro One's detailed risk-based planning process and the filing of supplemental exhibits on the process, as it pertains to Hydro One's 2009 capital levels.


E, justification that the amounts to be spent are prudent, as described in B1, tab 3, schedules 3 through 7, and as stated in item B that I just read.


F, evidence that the revenue requested will not be recovered through other means, as described by the witnesses during cross-examination and in Exhibit B1, tab 1, schedule 2.


And finally, G, an answer as to what the applicant will do if the application is rejected as stated by Hydro One witnesses during cross-examination.


In addition, I submit that Hydro One has satisfied the eligibility criteria for using the incremental capital module.  Those eligibility criteria which are materiality, need and prudence, are described at page IV in appendix B of the Board's September 17th supplemental report.


I submit that there was no evidence from intervenors to impugn Hydro One's evidence that it had satisfied the eligibility criteria and that Hydro One's application of the Board's model was improper.


In Mr. Shepherd's cross-examination of Hydro One's witnesses, he mentioned a number of times the number 79 being the number of application pages that set out Hydro One's capital program.


In my submission, Mr. Shepherd seemed to be suggesting that Hydro One had not provided the Board and intervenors with enough evidence to comply with the Board's requirements.


Hydro One totally rejects that suggestion.  Hydro One has provided a comprehensive body of evidence and information concerning its capital programs, and Hydro One provided a panel of four witnesses who were here for two days to defend Hydro One's capital spend.


I should point out here that at Hydro One's last full cost-of-service application for distribution, approximately one day was the time spent on dealing with capital expenditures.  This proceeding was no shortcut.


The suggestion that there was a dearth of information, because this was in the context of the 3GIRM application, is simply not correct.


I understand that Mr. Shepherd was unhappy that some of the interrogatories he posed to Hydro One were rejected, a number of which related to historical information pertaining to the period going back at least five years.


I submit that not only were such questions irrelevant within the context of this application, but also that SEC brought no motion to require answers.


The witness panel were ready, willing and able to defend and they did defend the evidence provided concerning Hydro One's $460.8 million capital spending program for 2009, and to answer questions concerning that capital spend.


Hydro One also submits that its application and all of the evidence it provided in the application and through its witnesses showed that Hydro One's numbers were derived based on a comprehensive business planning process.


Hydro One, therefore, asks the Board to reject any allegation that Hydro One filed an incomplete application, or provided a body of evidence and answers that are insufficient to enable the Board to make a favourable disposition of Hydro One's application respecting its 2009 capital spend.

Furthermore, Hydro One submits that it applied the capital adjustment module as provided and guided by the Board's reports.  I think it's fair to say that more than one intervenor seemed to be more dissatisfied with the Board's module itself and more dissatisfied with the results produced by following the module than with Hydro One's connecting of the dots.

An example of that would be Mr. Shepherd's dissatisfaction with the ROE percentages in the Board's module, which Hydro One naturally used.  Mr. Shepherd also seemed to suggest that by using 3GIRM and the Board's capital adjustment module contained therein, Hydro One is somehow getting a windfall.  Hydro One submits that SEC provided no evidence that there is, in fact, such a windfall.

Other than expressing his dissatisfaction with the fact that Hydro One used the ROE percentages in the Board's module, the windfall argument seems to be based on the allegation that the 3GIRM application would provide greater financial benefit to the company than the use of the cost-of-service model, which Mr. Dumka pointed out was inaccurate when he stated that there were no substantial differences between the two approaches with respect to the capital additions.

So that under the cost-of-service methodology, Hydro One would have had a rate base increase of $430 million as compared to $420 million under the 3GIRM application.

A number of questions from intervenors seemed to go to the matter of whether Hydro One's capital plans for 2009 were as a result of unusual work programs or projects, rather than the result of the programs normally taken on by a utility.

Hydro One had no problem answering that the latter is the case, not the former, but the fact is that the question itself is unhelpful in understanding third generation IRM and the use of the Board's capital adjustment module that forms part of 3GIRM.

What the Board spoke about at page 31 in its September 17th, 2008 supplementary report was the intent that the capital module be used in unusual circumstances that are not captured as a Z factor and where the distributor has no other options for meeting its capital requirements within the context of its financial capacities underpinned by existing rates.  That's a quote from the September 17th report.

Dr. Poray explained clearly the unusual circumstances in which Hydro One finds itself; namely, that Hydro One is not in a traditional steady-state situation of many utilities, but, rather, that Hydro One's assets are at end of life, that capital spending has had to rise very dramatically over the past five years, and that capital spending is far exceeding depreciation.

Dr. Poray also explained that Hydro One has no other options for meeting its capital requirements.

I submit that intervenors' questions, using the phrases "unusual work programs" and "business as usual", are misstating the Board's words and the Board's intent.

Had the Board intended for the capital adjustment module to be used only for unusual programs or unusual work, or unusual capital items or unusual projects, the Board would have used those words rather than the words "unusual circumstances".

Furthermore, the filing requirements would have requested a list of projects that were unusual and the circumstances explaining why they were unusual.

Had the Board used those words or requested the project list, the use of 3GIRM, including the capital adjustment module that forms part of it would be very unhelpful to Hydro One and to other utilities in the same position.

I submit that if the intervenors' position on the use of the Board's capital adjustment module were to be adopted by the Board, Hydro One and all other utilities that find themselves in the circumstances described by Dr. Poray would be ill advised to submit 3GIRM applications, because the consequences would be that only cost-of-service applications would work for such utilities.

Today there was some questioning whether the Green Energy Act would alter the 2009 expenditures in this application.  It was clearly indicated that this application was prepared prior to the Green Energy Act draft legislation, and, therefore, Hydro One has not included funding to respond to any aspects that may be included in the final act.


It is recognized that the act will include elements of what is referred to as the smart grid, and Hydro One staff have reviewed the draft legislation and believe that the smart grid initiatives contained in the 2009 third generation IRM are directionally aligned with the proposed legislation.

If adjustments are required after it becomes enacted, adjustments to Hydro One's plan will be made at that time.

At this time, as was stated in evidence, Hydro One is required to invest in the smart grid technology to modernize its system, to protect customer reliability and to respond to renewable generation that is being connected to a system that has not been designed to accommodate an influx of distributed generation.

There was also some discussion of the change in economic circumstances that have developed subsequent to Hydro One's preparation of its 2009 business plan and program.

Hydro One submits that load forecast used to underpin the work program continues to be appropriate.  Hydro One's capital programs also take into account the longer-term considerations.

The third generation IRM model does not make provision for load changes stemming from changes in economic conditions.  For example, during an economic downturn, a decrease in energy consumption cannot be captured by increased rates under third generation IRM.

Charge determinants remain fixed at the approved base year values for the entire period of the IRM.  Therefore, load forecast, per se, does not play a role in the setting of distribution rates via the price cap index adjustment and there is no impact of changes to forecasts.

In summary, Hydro One submits that it has satisfied all of the Board's requirements regarding a 3GIRM application, that it has met the threshold for use of the capital adjustment module, that it has provided a comprehensive body of evidence, both written and oral, as to Hydro One's circumstances and capital spend, and that it has properly applied the Board's guidelines and has properly used the Board's capital adjustment module.

As the Board stated at page 31 of the report dated September 17th, 2008, and I quote:
"The incremental capital for which the Board may provide rate relief is the new capital sought in excess of the materiality threshold."

That is exactly what Hydro One is requesting that the Board do.  Hydro One hopes that the Board will not agree to what I submit is the intervenors' apparent desire to emasculate third generation IRM by rendering the capital adjustment module useless to Hydro One and other utilities in a similar position.

Those are Hydro One's submissions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Engelberg.

The Board has no questions, Mr. Engelberg.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  With that -- with that, thank you all.  I will be looking forward to the argument.  And thanks to the reporter.  We are adjourned.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks, everybody.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 4:01 p.m.
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